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INTRODUCTION



On behalf of the Council and staff of the 
Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-
the-Lake, it is our pleasure to present the 
2019 Annual Report.  

Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of Canada’s 
most historic and picturesque towns. 
Established as a settlement for United 
Empire Loyalists in 1781, the Town was 
incorporated and became the first capital 
of Upper Canada in 1792. Today, it is the 
only municipality in Canada whose Head 
of Council bears the title of Lord Mayor. 
While we are home to approximately 
18,000 permanent residents, we also 
welcome millions of visitors to our 

community each year. Residents and visitors alike enjoy the Town’s natural beauty, as well as our many 
heritage landmarks and local amenities, including some of the finest vineyards, orchards and greenhouses 
in Canada; the world-famous Shaw Festival Theatre, many cultural events; internationally-acclaimed 
wineries’ and four-star dining and visitor accommodations.  

2019 was a year of redefining who we are and where we want the future to take us. Our main focuses for 
2019 were: 

1. The Official Plan 

2. The Strategic Plan, which has 5 overall goals: protect distinctive community assets, deliver smart 
balanced growth, create a culture of customer service excellence, excel in a positive workplace, and 
strengthen 2-way communications  

3. The Economic Development Task Force report  

4. Working with the private sector partners to provide services like the: Pleasant Manor expansion, 
Niagara Nursery School expansion, Youth Mental Wellness program with Pathstone, and rebuilding the 
St. Davids Pool with the St. Davids Residents Association, and the St. Davids Lions Club.

Niagara-on-the-Lake is a vibrant and growing community, one that embraces diversity and encourages 
unity. Town Council and staff are extremely proud of the work we have accomplished this year and of our 
employees’ dedication to providing quality programs and services for our residents and to the millions of 
visitors who join us each year. 

Sheldon Randal
Interim CAO

GREETINGS FROM
LORD MAYOR & CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

Betty Disero
Lord Mayor
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Betty Disero
Lord Mayor

Gary Burroughs
Councillor

Norm Arsenault
Councillor

Clare Cameron
Councillor/ Deputy Lord Mayor

Allan Bisback
Councillor

Wendy Cheropita
Councillor

LORD MAYOR & 
COUNCIL MEMBERS

Stuart McCormack
Councillor

Erwin Wiens
Councillor

John Wiens
Councillor



CORPORATE 
MISSION
We are committed to supporting a high quality 
of community life through the delivery of 
friendly, effective and efficient government 
services.

OUR VALUES
Accountability,  
Dedication,  
Respect,  
Service Excellence.

CORPORATE 
VISION
To further value, align and invest in the diversity of 
our community to support and sustain a high quality 
of life for our residents and visitors.
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Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of twelve municipalities within Niagara Region. Prior to the creation of the 
Regional Municipality of Niagara in 1970, the area was comprised of the former Town and Townships of 
Niagara. The Town is represented by a Lord Mayor and eight Councillors.

Niagara-on-the-Lake also holds the distinction of being the first capital of Upper Canada from 1792-1796 
when it was known as Newark.

The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is appointed by Town Council to oversee the management and 
operation of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. As the Town manager, the CAO advises 
Council on all municipal programs and services and is accountable to Council for all operations of the 
Corporation.

LEGISLATIVE  
AUTHORITY
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Sheldon Randall
Interim Chief Administrative Officer 

Nick Ruller
Fire Chief

Craig Larmour
Director, Community & Development 

Services

Jeff Vyse
Acting Director, Operations

Kyle Freeborn
Director, Corporate Services

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
TEAM
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ORGANIZATIONAL
CHART

Community Engagement 
 

 Executive Assistant 
 

Human Resources 

Lord Mayor & Council
Lord Mayor Disero, Councillors Arsenault, Bisback, Burroughs, 

Cameron, Cheropita, McCormack, Erwin Wiens, John Wiens

Chief Administrative 
Officer (I)
Sheldon Randall

CAO’s Office 

Corporate Services

Director 
Kyle Freeborn

Operations 

Director (A) 
Jeff Vyse

Community & 
Development Services 

Director 
Craig Larmour

Fire & Emergency 
Services 
Fire Chief 
Nick Ruller

Clerks 
 

Information Technology 
 

Finance 

Drainage 
 

Engineering 
 

Irrigation 
 

Parks & Recreation 
 

Roads  
 

Water & Wastewater

Building 
 

Enforcement 
 

Planning

Emergency  
Management 

 
Fire Prevention 

 
Fire Suppression 

 
Public Education 
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RESPONSIBILITIES

• Chief advisor to Town Council

• Provides leadership to Town staff

• Coordinates all departments to ensure 
efficient implementation of Council policies 
and directives

• Guides the implementation of Town 
Council’s Strategic Plan

• Develops and maintains key relationships 
with other municipal, provincial and federal 
governments and organizations

Leading a team of exceptional employees, Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Interim Chief Administrative 
Officer (CAO), Sheldon Randall, serves as the most senior position of the Corporation and is 
responsible to Town Council for the effective and efficient operation of all Town programs and 
services. 

OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Community Engagement 
Human Resources 
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT:
List of 2019 Achievements 

• Events held in 2019 include:  

- Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Senior Strawberry 
Social which was attended by close to 
300 senior residents 

- The Third Annual Step Challenge which 
included approximately 200 participants  

- A children’s Halloween event at the 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Community Centre  

• The Town’s Volunteer Talent Bank grew to 
165 subscribers  

• The Town’s social media following grew 
to over 2,200 Instagram and Facebook 
followers and received 7,900 likes on Twitter  

• Join the Conversation NOTL, the Town’s 
online engagement platform, grew to over 
1,500 registered users with over 45,000 site 
visits since its launch in 2018  

• A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
was signed with the Environmental 
Sustainability Research Centre at Brock 
University to join the program ‘Niagara 
Adapts’ which will result in the Town having a 
unique Climate Change Adaptation Plan    

• Initial planning began for the 2021 Canada 
Summer Games event to be held in Niagara-
on-the-Lake 
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

HUMAN RESOURCES  
Human Resources provides support and services to all levels of employees. The services provided 
include recruitment, health and safety, training, compensation, and employee and labour 
relations. Below are some statistics related to recruitment and health and safety. 

RECRUITMENT 
The table below summarizes the recruitment activity for 2019. All recruitment efforts were 
supported by Human Resources. The table below outlines the number of staff hired broken down 
by department: 
 
Department Full Time Contract
Administration - -
Corporate Services - 2
Community and Development Services 3 5
Operations 5 58
Fire and Emergency Services 6 1

Total 14 68
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
Accidents and incidents are monitored and recorded each year. The following table summarizes 
the accidents and incidents in the following categories: 

Medical Aid – An injury or illness where the employee seeks medical attention away from 
the workplace from a healthcare professional 

Lost Time – An absence from the workplace following a work-related injury or illness 
beyond the date of occurrence

Incident Type Accidents/Incidents Medical Aid Lost Time
Slip/Trip/Fall 8 3 1
Struck/Caught 7 4 1

Overexertion 1 - -
PTSD 1 1 1

Total 17 8 3

STAFF WELLNESS 
The Staff Wellness Committee continues to offer activities to staff and support the community. 
The Committee encourages staff involvement in physical activity, financial wellness and 
community support. 
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

As the Director of Corporate Services, it is my pleasure to present the department’s achievements 
and milestones for 2019.  

The Corporate Services Department is the administrative backbone of the Town. The department 
supports most day-to-day operations by processing financial transactions, answering and 
directing requests from the public, providing technical support and advice, and processing various 
applications. I am proud of our staff’s commitment and dedication to providing the best service 
possible, by utilizing the resources available.  

I am very pleased to announce the Town received the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
again. This is the seventh consecutive year, and it is an honour to be recognized for our high-
quality financial reporting.  

The Information and Technology division facilitated staff transitioning to many of Microsoft’s 
collaboration tools, allowing better engagement and collaboration internally and with external 
stakeholders.  

I look forward to new advancements in 2020 and am confident the Corporate Services team will 
have a strong role in fulfilling new and exciting priorities.

Sincerely,

Kyle Freeborn, 
Acting Director of Corporate Services

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Office of the Town Clerk  
Finance & Taxation   
Information Technology 

GREETINGS FROM THE 
DIRECTOR
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK

• By the end of 2019, there were 294 licensed 
short-term rental operations. 

• The Town issued approximately 108 special 
event permits processed. 

• The Town issued 12 lottery/ raffle licenses.  

• 35 Freedom of Information requests were 
received and processed, as per the Municipal 
Freedom of Information and Protection of 
Privacy Act (MFIPPA)

FINANCE & TAXATION

• Received the Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting- The Town has won seven 
consecutive awards for publishing high 
quality financial reports  

• Approximately 600 residents receive their tax 
bill via email  

• 689 dog tags issued  

• 7 residential parking passes issued  

• Awarded onetime payment $725,000 from 
the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
to modernize service delivery 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

• In 2019, the Town’s Information Technology 
group continually pushed and advocated 
for the use of Microsoft’s collaboration tools 
which are already included in the Office 365 
subscription.  Apps like Microsoft Teams, 
OneDrive, OneNote, Planner, Yammer, 
Forms and Video are now being used in 
different departments throughout the 
Corporation. The use of these tools has 
allowed staff to engage and collaborate, not 
just internally, but with the Town’s external 
partners as well.   

• With the help of the Town’s Engineering 
group, Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 
has also been leveraged to help enhance 
customer service on the Town’s website 
with the use of Dashboards (Fire Incidents 
Map) and StoryMaps (Municipal Ash Tree 
Inventory).   

• The utilization of Survey 123 forms also 
helped enhance the Town’s Customer 
Relations Management software by 
facilitating the creation of a more robust 
online service request form that gives the 
option of uploading photos and geotagging 
the requests.   

• In addition to the improved form, a new 
status lookup page was created that allows 
the public to check the status of their 
service request.  Online submission forms 
were also introduced, for the newly created 
permit databases, for Private Tree Removal 
Applications and for Pool and Hot Tub 
Compliance Applications.
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

As the Director for the Community and Development Services Department, I am pleased to 
present our annual report of the department’s core services and achievements for 2019.   

The Department continued to see growth in all areas of our service deliverables.  Our long-range 
planning policy continued to evolve as the Draft Official Plan was adopted by Council, a number of 
regulatory by-laws were reviewed and updated and amendments were made to heritage policies 
that added additional protection to our cultural heritage landscape.  

For the most part activity in the Department remained constant in 2019.  Building services 
remained constant with the issuance of 402 Building Permits in 2019 with a $120,000,000 value 
of construction, which exceeded the 2019 budgeted forecast by 18%.  By-law Enforcement 
continued to remain vigilant addressing over 900 files and 16,047 parking infractions, Planning 
Services and Committee of Adjustment processed 74 development application files. Heritage 
Planning remained a priority throughout the year attending to 44 Heritage Permits and issuance 
of $35,000 in municipal grant funding to local residents and businesses.   

It is with gratitude that I recognize the citizen volunteers who assist our Department’s function by 
serving on the town’s Agricultural Advisory Committee, Committee of Adjustment, Glendale Task 
Force, Municipal Heritage Committee and Urban Design Committee. 

I look forward to building on our achievements in 2020, as our dedicated and skilled staff continue 
to deliver quality service to the individuals with whom we serve.

Sincerely

Craig Larmour 
Director of Community & 
Development Services

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Planning Services 
Building Services 
Parking and By-law Enforcement 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT

The Committee of Adjustment is a quasi-
judicial body composed of members who 
are appointed by Council. The Committee 
is guided by the provisions of the Official 
Plan and Zoning By-laws. The Committee is 
authorized by the Ontario Planning Act to 
grant minor variances from the provisions 
of the Zoning By-laws, to permit extensions, 
enlargements or variations of existing legal 
non-conforming uses and are authorized 
to hear and make decisions on Consent 
Applications to sever land, establish 
easements etc.  They also make decisions 
on Fence and Sign Variance Applications 
and Property Standard’s Appeals.   In 2019, 
the Committee processed applications for; 
23 Minor Variances, 17 Consents, 4 Fence 
Variances and 2 Sign Variances.  

URBAN DESIGN 

Urban design is the design of towns and cities, 
streets and spaces. While architecture focuses 
on buildings, urban design focuses on the 
connections development has between people 
and places and relationships between buildings 
and the spaces they create. 

All development applications are reviewed 
and commented on in accordance with the 
municipality’s urban design policies, guidelines 
and standards. Staff is supported in this initiative 
by the Urban Design Committee. In 2019, the 
staff liaison for the Urban Design Committee 
processed 17 development applications 
through the Committee and commented on all 
development applications processed.  

Event Barn at Pillar & Post
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

HERITAGE 

The conservation of the Town’s cultural 
heritage remains a priority for Council. Council’s 
initiative is supported by the Municipal Heritage 
Committee. The Committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to Council on heritage 
permit applications for heritage properties 
including alterations, removal or demolition. 
The Committee also promotes heritage 
conservation through the support of heritage 
designations, heritage policy matters, grant 
application review and recommendation.  

In 2019, the Committee was very active and 
processed; 44 Heritage Permits, recommended 
that 3 Notices of Intention to Designate be 
served and 34 properties be added to the 
Municipal Register of Heritage Properties. 
In total $35,000 of municipal funding was 
recommended for approval under the Heritage 
Restoration and Improvement Grant Program 
and 7 properties were honoured with the Peter 
Stokes Heritage Commendation. 

Also, in 2019, Council approved policy that adds 
important protection to heritage properties 
designated under Parts IV and V of the Ontario 
Heritage Act.  The objective of these new 
standards is to provide a standard of property 
maintenance for heritage properties and also 
to prevent what has been popularly referred to 
as demolition by neglect. 

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Services plays an important role in 
the management of growth and development 
within the municipality and the protection of 
assets such as agriculture land, the natural 
environment and heritage features.  The 
Division assists in maintaining and creating a 
high quality and sustainable community where 
people can live, work and visit. 

Interest in development within the Town 
remains steady. In 2019, Staff received 22 
development applications under the Planning 
Act including draft plans of subdivision, Zoning 
By-law amendments, Site Plan approval, 
consent/severance and minor variances.  A 
further 12 development permit applications 
were circulated by the Niagara Escarpment 
Commission for Town review.  Staff engaged 
in 53 pre-development consultation meetings 
with residents and developers.  It is anticipated 
that many of these pre-development proposals 
will be initiated as formal applications in 2020.   

Planning policy work was a top priority for 
Planning Services Staff in 2019.  Council 
adopted a new proposed Official Plan to guide 
land use in the Town.  The proposed Official 
Plan has been forwarded to the Niagara Region 
for formal review and future approval.  Council 
also adopted an Official Plan Amendment to 
provide policies respecting residential infill and 
intensification development. Staff and Council 
continued to work on matters related to 
cannabis production. 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

BUILDING 
SERVICES

BUILDING SERVICES

Building staff are responsible for the 
administration and enforcement of both 
Provincial and Municipal Regulations.  At the 
Provincial level, the department enforces 
the Ontario Building Code to ensure that all 
construction meets the minimum standards 
required.  

At the municipal level, the department 
enforces the municipality’s zoning 
regulations which are designed to ensure 
that all development with the municipality 
conforms to specific guidelines.  

Staff also assist customers to ensure safe 
and systematic development.  

The Town issued a total number of 
402 Building Permits in 2019 with a 
$120,000,000 value of construction. This 
building activity generated building permit 
fees of $887,250.  

CCC Building - East elevation

New homes by Blythwood on Millpond
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PARKING & BY-LAW 
ENFORCEMENT

PARKING ENFORCEMENT

The Parking Enforcement Officers patrol and 
enforce the Parking By-law throughout the 
municipality, including the Niagara-on-the-Lake 
campus of Niagara College.  They also serve 
as ambassadors for visitors, residents and 
students.  The department also maintains the 
day-to-day business of over 120 parking meters 
throughout the municipality.  In 2019, 16,047 
parking infractions were processed and over 
3,000 residential parking permits were sold.  

BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT

The Town’s By-law Enforcement Officers are 
committed to fostering a safe, welcoming 
and pleasant community for residents and 
visitors. Officers work in the community to 
educate the public about the Town’s regulatory 
by-laws, respond to complaints in a timely 
manner, conduct investigations related to 
by-law offences, and issue warnings and 
penalties for by-law violations when needed. 
In 2019 a number of new regulatory by-laws 
were approved and updated by Council, 
including; Outdoor Swimming Pool, Private Tree 
Protection and Property Standards. During 
2019, officers responded to; 471 complaints 
and concerns, performed 122 short term rental 
unit inspections, reviewed 136 Special Event 
Permits, issued 39 Sign Permits and processed 
135 Tree Removal Applications.  
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THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Emergency Management 
Fire Prevention 
Fire Suppression 
Public Education 
 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

On behalf of the men and women who comprise the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency 
Services department, I am proud to present our 2019 Annual Report. The Niagara-on-the-
Lake Fire & Emergency Services’ staff and volunteers are committed to providing exceptional 
customer service to our residents and visitors through community risk reduction and emergency 
response. As Fire Chief, I am incredibly proud of each member of our organization as they work 
tirelessly toward continuous personal and organizational improvement. 

As the fastest growing municipality in the Niagara Region, we are faced with numerous 
challenges maintaining a resilient and sustainable system that will be there when the community 
needs us the most.  Some of these challenges include increased training requirements for 
volunteer firefighters, seasonal density and demand issues related to tourism, recruitment and 
retention of volunteer firefighters, and ensuring that surge capacity and capability exists to 
respond to major events. 

This report highlights many of the valuable initiatives and programs that our staff and volunteers 
contribute to daily, as well as presents data and information on the delivery of many of our 
critical services.  Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services has a renewed focus on data 
and analysis, both of which enable and inform the evidence-based decision-making process. 

Looking back, it was an incredibly demanding year, but it has also proven to have been a very 
successful year.  I am honoured to serve alongside such hardworking and compassionate 
firefighters that demonstrate such commitment to their community.   

Furthermore, I am thankful for the ongoing support that we receive from Lord Mayor Disero, 
Town Council, and Interim CAO Sheldon Randall, without whom we would be unable to deliver 
the excellent service that the public has come to expect. Council, residents, and firefighters alike 
can be proud of the community-focused, data-driven, outcome-focused, strategic-minded, well 
organized, properly equipped, and properly staffed and trained fire department that we have 
become. 

Sincerely, 

Nick Ruller 
Fire Chief

GREETINGS FROM 
THE FIRE CHIEF
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

2019 ACHIEVEMENTS & 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• The realignment of the Fire & Emergency 
Service reporting structure to improve 
service delivery to both internal and 
external stakeholders. 

• Recruited a new Deputy Fire Chief, Fire 
Training Officer, Fire Prevention Officer, and 
Administrative Assistant. 

• Recruited, and began training and certifying, 
17 new volunteer firefighters to offset 
retirements and resignations. 

• Placed a new 3000-gallon Tanker into 
service at Station 2 in order to provide 
increased rural fire response capabilities. 

• Commenced the specification and 
construction of a new 100-foot Aerial 
Platform for Station 1 in order to replace an 
aging and unreliable 75-foot Aerial. 

• Equipped all frontline Pumpers with 
specialized on-scene decontamination 
equipment as part of ongoing cancer 
prevention initiatives. 

• Installed 2 bunker gear extractors and a 
forced air gear dryer at Station 1 to aid in 
the decontamination and hygiene program 
and cancer prevention initiatives. 

• Initiated a 4-year uniform replacement 
initiative that will see all volunteer 
firefighters outfitted with Class A and Class 
B uniforms. 

• Launched an interactive fire incident 
mapping feature through our website 
providing accurate and timely information 
to the public on fire department responses. 

• Replaced the remaining hydraulic ‘jaws-of-
life’ extrication tools with state-of-the-art 
battery powered extrication tools. 

• Completed the backup generator project 
for the Community Centre as part of the 
Emergency Management Program. 

• Achieved compliance with Emergency 
Management Ontario’s municipal 
requirements, including running an 
emergency exercise related to ‘Dock Area’ 
flooding. 

• Implemented a new comprehensive 
Records Management System for incident 
response reporting, training records, fleet 
and equipment, and volunteer firefighter 
payroll. 

• Completed the replacement of 25 sets of 
structural firefighting personal protective 
equipment.

See Appendix A for the full 2019 Fire and Emergency Services Annual Report
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2019 FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE STATISTICS

• 263 inspections were conducted across Niagara-on-the-Lake for compliance with the Ontario 
Fire Code. 

• 643 emergencies were responded to, representing a 5.7% decrease compared to 2018. 

• 1,652 fire truck responses to emergency incidents. 

• Performed over 9000 hours of training. 

• Successfully certified 50 firefighters and officers through the Ontario Fire Marshal’s Office 
Academic Standards and Evaluation Unit in various NFPA standards. 

• 100% of vulnerable occupancies in Niagara-on-the-Lake (including care occupancies, care and 
treatment occupancies, or retirement homes) were inspected to protect the most vulnerable 
residents in our community. 

• 253 homes were attended by firefighters as part of the SAFE HOME Residential Smoke & 
Carbon Monoxide Alarm Program. 

• 133 reviews of Special Event Applications were completed. 

• 1,150 children were educated through presentations, events, workshops and displays. 

• Approximately $20,000 in savings achieved through changes that led to the refinement of 
dispatches to Motor Vehicle Collisions (MVCs). 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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CALL TYPES

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses that Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire 
responded to in 2019 by type of call.

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

INCIDENTS BY STATION

The chart below depicts the number of incidents by all 5 fire stations in Niagara-on-the-Lake.

INCIDENTS BY STATION

The chart below depicts the total number of incidents in Niagara-on-the-Lake for the last 5 years.
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OPERATIONS

On behalf of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Operations Department I am pleased to invite you 
to read this year’s Annual Report. The information contained on the following pages looks back on 
the work, projects and goals of 2019. 

We achieved positive outcomes in the areas identified as priorities for the Town. With the work 
and successes of 2019, we are well positioned to plan and focus on new strategic initiatives for 
2020. 

For Operations, that means our team is dedicated to providing public services including winter 
maintenance, safe drinking water, clean parks, and well-maintained roads and trees. Our team 
accomplished many goals in 2019, and these successes would not have been possible without the 
hard work and dedication of Council, the Advisory Committees, volunteers, residents, businesses 
and our valuable Town staff. You have all helped to keep the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake a great 
place to work, live and visit.   

Sincerely, 

Jeff Vyse,  
Director of Operations 

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Parks and Recreation 
Public Works 
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2019 GRANTS APPLICATIONS

• New Horizon Grant – Seniors – $5000 – Result: pending - Floor Curling 

• New Horizon Grant – Seniors – $5000 – Result: pending - Ukulele Lessons 

• Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program - Community Culture and Recreation - $5 million – 
Result: pending – Replacement of the St. Davids pool and change house.

Parks and Recreation is responsible for the operation and maintenance of all Town owned 
recreational facilities (i.e. arenas, pools, a splash pad, sports fields, recreational complexes, Court 
House, Community Centre), park maintenance (22 parks, 130 acres), Queen Street boulevard 
maintenance and horticultural duties, management of cemeteries (1 operational, 8 abandoned), 
and maintenance of all public washrooms and municipal properties. The Parks and Recreation 
division also produces the semi-annual Community Guide for social and recreational services.

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION
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COMMUNITIES IN BLOOM

• Participated in the Circle of 
Excellence – Non-Evaluated 

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

2019 PROJECTS

• Installed pavers and stairs between 
gazebo and shoreline protection at 
Queen’s Royal Park 

• Replaced trees in Garrison Village Park 

• Installed a playground in Cannery Park 

• Replaced the playground in Niagara on 
the Green Park 

 
VEHICLES 

• Replacement of one full size van 

• Replacement of one pickup truck
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE

• Cardio Equipment replacement in the track and 
fitness area 

• Purchased new matting, show rack, wireless 
microphone system, and three new iPads for the 
youth camp 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE LARGE EVENTS

• Hosted Empire Travel Open House – over 200 
attendees 

• Hosted Annual Bunny Trail – over 300 attendees 

• Hosted Hear Better Niagara Open House – over 200 
attendees 

• Hosted Annual Seniors’ Strawberry Social – over 300 
attendees 

• Hosted Niagara Area Unit 255 Bridge Tournament – 
over 300 attendees 

• Hosted Rotary Club International Youth Exchange 
event – over 300 attendees 

• Hosted Music Niagara’s annual “Big Night” – over 
250 attendees 

• Hoted Niagara Chinese Chamber of Commerce 
annual Holiday event – over 200 attendees 

• Hosted Annual Comedy Night in Niagara event – 
over 250 attendees 

• Hosted “Tunes for Terry” Fundraiser – over 200 
attendees 

• Hosted Annual NOTL Golf Classic Dinner – over 250 
attendees 

• Hosted Annual Rotary Youth Services event – over 
300 attendees 

• Hosted Federal Election Polling Station

• Hosted Prime Minister’s Major Federal Funding 
Announcement 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

AQUATICS

• St. Davids Pool – Emergency Repairs 

Attendance for both pools as noted in chart below 
Pool Programs * Memberships Admissions
Niagara (Memorial) 266 48 5,615
St. Davids 164 27 3140
Total 430 75 8,755

*Programs include: group lessons, advanced programs, family lessons, private & semi private 
lessons

COMMUNITY CENTRE PROGRAMS

Camp attendance noted in chart below 
Camp Participants (Full Week) Participants (Single Days)
March Break 15 52
Summer Camp 135 385
December Break N/A 50
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

FACILITIES

• Court House exterior stairs repaint 

• Court House washroom renovations 

• Meridian Credit Union Arena condenser 
replacement 

• Meridian Credit Union Arena dehumidifier 
replacement 

• Niagara on the Green basketball court 
replacement 

• Rye Heritage Park basketball asphalt 
replacement 

• Simcoe Park wading pool drainage 

• Town wide defibrillator replacement 

• Virgil Sports Park pickle ball courts 

FACILITIES  PROGRAMS  

• Public Skating – 749 Skaters on 
Saturdays (September 7/19 - January 
26/20) 

• Public Skating – 1217 Skaters on 
Sundays (September 7/19 - January 
26/20) 

• Public Skating – 246 Skaters on 
Weekdays (September 7/19 - January 
26/20) 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

CEMETERY  

• 65 interments and 53 cremations 

• Sold 20 double lots, 8 single lots, 13 cremation plots and 26 columbarium niches 

• Section I: surveyed, plots finalized and approved by the Bereavement Authority of 
Ontario (BAO) 

• Approval of scattering grounds from BAO 

• Proposal submitted to BAO to increase Section A and add 21 double lots 

• Roads re-surfaced 

• Addition of irrigation in Sections A, B, C, E, and F 
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ENGINEERING

Road Projects

• Queenston Road - widening and resurfacing 
of 850 metres of road between Townline 
Road and Airport Road. The work included 
a watermain replacement, the addition of 
bike lanes, road realignment (Martin Road), 
addition/replacement of guide rails, drainage 
improvements, erosion protection and slope 
stabilization in various areas. The project 
began in June 2019 and was completed in early 
November 2019.  

• Line 1 Road - replacement of Line 1 Road 
Bridge #15 over the Harrison Drain (tributary 
of Two Mile Creek) 0.2km west of Concession 
2 Road. The work included the replacement 
of the existing concrete structure (originally 
constructed in 1940) with a new concrete 
structure, decking and guide rails. 

• Four Mile Creek Road – resurfacing (base 
course) of 750 metres of road between Hunter 
Road and Wall Road.  

• Johanna Drive – resurfacing 70 metres of road 
between Four Mile Creek Road and the dead 
end.  

• Johnson Street – resurfacing 300 metres of 
road between Mississauga Street and Gate 
Street.   

The Public Works division is responsible for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance 
of the Town’s public works infrastructure including water distribution, wastewater and storm 
water collection systems, roads, sidewalks, streetlights, transit, municipal drains, irrigation 
systems, and related easements and right-of-ways. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Queenston Road

Line 1 Road
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Road Projects (continued)

• Byron Street – resurfacing 300 metres of road 
between King Street and Wellington Street. 

• John Street – resurfacing 140 metres of road between 
Victoria Street and Regent Street.  

• Read Road – resurfacing 1,100 metres (east lane 
edge) between Church Road and Lakeshore 
Road. 

• Oak Drive – resurfacing 375 metres of road 
between Lakeshore Road and Circle Street with 
curb and catch basin repairs.

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Byron Street

Oak Drive
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Watermains  Projects

• Replacement of 140 metres of cast iron 
mains on Gage Street between Gate Street 
and Victoria Street.  

• Replacement of 210 metres of cast iron 
mains on Gate Street between Johnson 
Street and 50 meters south of Gage Street. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Sanitary Sewers Projects

• Replacement of 330 metres of asbestos 
cement sanitary sewer and laterals on Dixie 
Avenue between Circle Street and Lakeshore 
Road. 

• Replacement of 150 metres of asbestos 
cement sanitary sewer and laterals on 
Lakeshore Road between Nassau Street and 
Oak Drive. 

• CSO Old Town (Phase 2 – Front & Ricardo 
Drainage Area) Trenchless Repairs. 

• CSO Old Town (Phase 3 – Dorchester South 
Drainage Area) Trenchless Repairs. 

Gate Street between Johnson and Gage Street

Replacement of asbestos cement sanitary sewer
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Street Lights

• Conversion of 27 High Pressure Sodium streetlights to LED in the Chautauqua Area. The 
conversion program is part of the Town’s ongoing plan to convert all of the Town’s streetlights 
to LED which will see lower energy costs and longer service life.   See Appendix A  

Trails and Sidewalks Project

• Installation of a new sidewalk on the north side of Anne Street between Gate Street and 
Victoria Street. 

Studies 

• 2019 Structures Inspection Program Rehabilitation/Replacement Needs Study – Inspections 
carried out on all Town structures (bridge, culvert, pedestrian) with spans over 3 meters 
including recommendations and cost estimates on the deficiencies at each structure. 

• 2019 Structure Asset Management Cost Forecast (SAMCF) – Based on the above study 
an expected remaining service life (ERSL) report was completed to determine estimated 
replacement and rehabilitation costs.  
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Drinking Water Quality Management System (DWQMS) 

In 2019, the new Lord Mayor and Council received the mandatory Standard of Care Training 
relating to their responsibilities as the owners of the Town’s Drinking Water Distribution Systems.  
Furthermore, the Operational Plan for the Town’s Drinking Water Quality Management System 
was updated and endorsed by Council.  Council also received the annual Drinking Water 
Summary Report and the System Reports were completed and posted to the Town’s website.  All 
Water Operators received the mandatory training levels and those that required operator license 
renewals in 2019 all received them prior to expiry. 

Mandatory audits were completed by SAI Global (the accreditation body) for the external 
system audit and by Acclaims Environmental for the internal audit.  The annual inspection of 
both systems was also completed by the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks 
(MECP).  Many of the procedures and forms for documenting have been upgraded from paper to 
electronic format for water sampling/testing, hydrant and valve inspections and maintenance as 
part of the Town’s commitment to continual improvement of the DWQMS.  These records are also 
being linked to the Town’s Geographical Information System (GIS) for easy access to information 
by all who may require it. 

Roads 

• Winter brought 46 events requiring sanding and or plowing 

• 10 new and 14 replacement culverts installed 

• 136 Ash trees were removed and 50 were replaced 

Construction Projects 

• Creek Road -Hunter to Wall 

• Constructed emergency access road for Airport -from Townline gate to runway  

• Construction of a new yard 

• Completion of Read Road edge repair 1.8 km 
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Grant

The Great Lakes Protection Initiative 
(federal source) Amount - $80,000.00 

Description - Funds received to install a Low 
Impact Development (LID) bioswale. The bioswale 
is designed to intercept, slow down and filter 
storm water exiting the Davy Street storm water 
catchment area. 

Environmental Services Projects 

Water Quality Enhancements - Queen’s Royal 
Beach (King Street/ Davey Street Storm Sewer 
Watershed) 

The Town of Niagara on the Lake has been working 
with various levels of government to improve the 
Town’s storm sewer water quality output. This 
work has been ongoing since 2008 with results 
identifying varying levels of impaired water quality. 

After a rigorous investigation which involved, smoke 
testing, closed circuit television review, lateral 
launching by consultants and isolating various 
impairments, it was shown that the Town had to 
perform maintenance in several areas including 
private residences. Manhole and lateral repairs 
are under way with some new technologies being 
utilized.  

New technologies included the design of an in-park 
filtration bed with E. coli absorbent plants, and a 
catch basin sponge which collects sediments and 
filters E. coli. While some of this is experimental, it 
will be tested throughout 2020 and possibly into 
2021. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

To date the Town has been able to partially 
eliminate E. coli contributing locations and is 
still quantifying the results. There are still some 
operational opportunities which the Town is 
committed to handling in 2020 to further improve 
the results which will allow the beach reasonably 
receive water within the provincial guidelines. 
Grants have been obtained from the federal 
government to assist in reducing costs for this 
project. 

This will then end a long-standing impairment from 
the Niagara River Remedial Action Program on 
Queen’s Royal Beach. Signage offering explanation 
is expected to be put up in 2020.

Water Quality Enhancements - Garrison Village 
Subdivision 

The Town of Niagara on the Lake has been working 
closely with the Niagara Peninsula Conservation 
Authority (NPCA) and the Niagara Region to 
reduce E. coli levels from the storm sewer outfalls 
within two-mile creek from the Garrison Village 
subdivision. 

There was extensive work completed in this area 
and the investigation is nearing a close with many 
recommendations to be put into place. These works 
will reduce if not eliminate the E. coli levels found 
coming out of the storm out falls.  

The investigation found that the sewer connections 
were allowing flow to bypass the pipes and go into 
the storm sewer trenches and, in some cases make 
its way into the storm sewer system. 

Moving forward this area will be upgraded over time 
to minimize and/or eliminate E. coli levels through 
the storm sewer out falls.
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Fire Hydrant Program 2019 

The Town and consultants have been working 
diligently on the maintenance program for fire 
hydrants. The goal of the program is to bring the 
hydrants into compliance in accordance with 
various legislation. This includes flushing, painting, 
flow and pressure testing, colour coding and in 
some cases locking the fire hydrants to prevent 
possible tampering. The Town also released 
a program in 2019 to clear up any visually or 
operationally impaired hydrants to ensure optimal 
access for the Fire Department. This meant 
removing gardens, trees or fencing from around 
the hydrants. Unobstructed access to fire hydrants 
is essential to the safety of the community and this 
program will be continuing permanently.  

Water Meter Program 

The Town has been working cooperatively with 
Niagara on the Lake Hydro to provide both new 
and existing homes with upgraded water meters.  
The majority of homes have been fitted with new 
meters, but the work remains ongoing.  Water 
meters are typically installed inside with a wire 
running to an outside transmitter. This transmitter 
emits a signal to the hydro meter, where the 
information is collected. 

This provides the Town with your water 
consumption amount and will alert of any significant 
increases or decreases in your water usage when 
fully implemented. Currently usage is monitored 
manually through meter reads at the time of 
invoicing.  
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Sample Stations  

The sample stations give the Town the ability to 
test the quality of the drinking water. They are a 
direct line to the distribution system and water 
mains. These stations enhance the Town’s 
ability to test a wider area of the water supply.      

In 2019, four more of these stations were 
added to the pre-existing eleven and the Town 
is looking to add an additional five stations in 
2020.  With this system, the Town has a better 
ability to provide top quality drinking water. The 
wider array of testing keeps us on top of any 
arising issues, as well as ensures all sampling 
asked for by governing bodies is provided 
promptly.     
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2019 BY THE NUMBERS

2 NEW Wi-fi Hotspots
1 NEW Seed Library
1 NEW Community Garden
8 Author visits

145 Adult programs
279 Children’s programs

895 New memberships
4,763 Card holders 

96,754 Items borrowed

420,259 Visits (in person and online)  
– including 1 Prime Minister,  
Justin Trudeau

The NOTL Public Library is an important community hub that proactively encourages connectivity 
and creative thinking through its quality, future-focused library services. The library is a public 
space, open and welcoming to all. A team of professional staff and community volunteers provide 
educational, cultural, recreational and social opportunities to anyone who is interested.  

As legislated by the Ontario Public Libraries Act, the Niagara-on-the-Lake Public Library Board is 
appointed by Town Council and responsible for library governance. The Town funds 94% of the 
library’s budget with the balance funded by the Ontario Ministry of Heritage, Sport, Tourism and 
Culture Industries, donations, fees, program revenue, grants and proceeds from book sales. 

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY
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PUBLIC  
LIBRARY

MATERIALS

• Daisy Collection (Digital Talking Books) for 
those with print disabilities 

• Large collection of print material (books, 
magazines, newspapers) 

• Live, Learn Jazz Collection 
• Extensive e-book collection  
• Audiobook collection  
• DVDs 
• Local history material (digital and micro-

form)  
• Online databases  

RENTALS

• Rotary Room which seats 40 and includes 
access to a kitchenette 

• Small meeting room (The Lab) which seats 
up to 10 people 

• Garden Gazebo    
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SERVICES

• Interlibrary loans 

• Homebound delivery to area nursing homes 
and private residences 

• Borrowing privileges at Niagara Falls, 
Welland, Fort Erie, Pelham, and Thorold 
public libraries and the Niagara College 
Libraries 

• Free wireless internet 

• 10 computer workstations  

• 16 laptops for public use 

• Printing, photocopying, scanning and fax 
services 

• Collection of online databases 

• Fireside and Garden view reading areas 

• Separate quiet study area 

• Group study tables  

• Library material pick up and drop off in St. 
Davids & Virgil 

• Lending library machine in Virgil Arena 

• 3D Printing 

• Embroidery Machine 

• VHS to DVD Conversion 

• Wood Carving Machinery 

• Cricut cutting machine  

• Seed Library and garden 

• Labyrinth 

PROGRAMS

• Weekly reading readiness programs for 
infants to preschoolers 

• Teen Book Club 

• Seasonal crafts for children 

• Makery workshops 

• Minecraft club 

• March Break and summer children’s 
programs  

• Knitting Club 

• Drumming Workshop 

• Tech tutoring and adult computer classes 

• Health information sessions 

• Science series 

• Beer and Books book club  

• Wine and Words author series  

• Genealogy workshops 

• Live, Learn jazz series   

• Children’s soft play equipment 

• Summer Kick Off event in partnership with 
the Town 

• Annual Garden Party 

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY



FINANCIAL REPORT
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The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake is pleased to present its Financial Report for the 2019 year. This 
report has been prepared by management in accordance with the Municipal Act and based on 
the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada. The Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) serves the public interest by establishing standards and guidance 
for financial reporting by all Canadian entities in the public sector and by contributing to the 
development of internationally accepted public sector financial reporting standards. 

The Financial Report communicates to stakeholders and residents the Town’s 2019 financial 
performance and provides information regarding significant financial policies and processes. The 
2019 financial results continue to demonstrate Niagara-on-the-Lake’s commitment to financial 
excellence.  

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake and the Niagara Region provide municipal services to Niagara-
on-the-Lake taxpayers. The Niagara Region is exclusively responsible for garbage collection and 
disposal, water treatment, waste water services, policing, and social services. The Town of Niagara-
on-the-Lake’s financial statements do not include the cost of Niagara Region services.  

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s property tax bill includes levies for the Town, the Niagara Region, the 
Province of Ontario (for education purposes), and the Niagara Health System. The Town’s 2019 
levy impact on a typical residential property was approximately 20% of the total property tax bill.  

With each budget cycle, Council and staff carefully review all service areas to improve efficiency 
and value for taxpayers. As a result of this review, the Town was able to limit its property tax bill 
increase to approximately 1% on the Town’s portion of the tax bill without compromising services. 
The increase in the total tax bill including the Niagara Region, Education, and Niagara Health 
System was approximately 3.83%.  

While the Town continues to grow, staff must be mindful of spending and that can be challenging 
for a growing town like Niagara-on-the-Lake. With the use of policies, priorities, and strategic 
plans, Council has established a roadmap for Niagara-on-the-Lake’s continued and future success.   

   
 

Kyle Freeborn, CPA, CMA 
Director of Corporate Services / Treasurer 
December, 2020 

MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER
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The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Canadian Award for Financial Reporting to the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake again this year for its Annual 
Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. The Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program 
was established to encourage municipal governments throughout Canada to publish high quality financial 
reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing these reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, the contents of which must conform to program 
standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally-accepted accounting 
principles and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the municipal government’s financial picture, 
enhance an understanding of financial reporting by municipal governments, and address user needs.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
PROCESSES

Internal Control Management

Management maintains a system of internal 
and administrative controls which are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are properly authorized, that 
assets are accounted for and safeguarded, 
and that financial information is relevant and 
reliable.    

External Audit

The role of the external auditor, KPMG LLP, 
is to present an independent opinion on 
the fair presentation of the Town’s financial 
position and operating results, confirming 
that the statements are free from material 
misstatements. It is the responsibility of 
the auditor to advise management and the 
Finance Advisory Committee of any control or 
operational issues that have been identified 
during the course of the audit.  

Financial Statement Preparation

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake management 
is responsible for all information contained 
in the annual Financial Report. The financial 
statements and accompanying notes have been 
prepared using reasonable limits of materiality 
and within the framework of the accounting 
principles and disclosure requirements of the 
CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Standards.  

Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee (previously 
Finance Advisory Committee) is newly formed 
and comprised of 5 Council members and 
various staff members. The Chair and Vice 
Chair are appointed annually by Council. As the 
successor to the Finance Advisory Committee 
initiated in 2015, The Audit and Finance 
Committee was established in 2019 to monitor 
the full accounting cycle, from budget guidance 
through to the finalization of the fiscal year via 
oversight of the external audit function. 
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2019 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Municipal Act and based on the reporting standards set by the CPA Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting Board.  

There are four required schedules to form the consolidated financial statements:  

• Statement of financial position 

• Statement of operations 

• Statement of change in net financial assets 

• Statement of cash flows 

Together these consolidated financial statements provide information on the cost of Town 
activities, how they were financed, and the assets and liabilities of the Town. The information 
reflects the full nature and extent of the Town’s financial affairs similar to a private sector financial 
statement presentation.  

The following is a high-level overview of the 2019 financial results for the Town.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial 
position highlights four key indicators that 
taken together describe the financial position 
of the Town:

1. cash resources

2. net financial position calculated as the 
difference between financial assets and 
financial liabilities

3. non-financial assets that are normally 
employed for providing services such as 
tangible capital assets

4. accumulated surplus

The Town continues to manage its day-to-
day finances on a cash basis using fund 
accounting but reports in accordance with 
PSAB. Fund balances are no longer reported 
in the consolidated financial statements and 
have been replaced by accumulated surplus. 
The accumulated surplus summarizes the 
Town’s consolidated equity which identifies 
the financial position, including tangible capital 
assets, and financial resources of the Town. 

Financial Assets

Financial assets in 2019 were $56.9 million 
(2018 - $52.3 million), a $4.6 million increase 
over the prior year.  This is mostly due to an 
increase in cash balances from operating 
revenues and the collection of Town 
receivables, as well as an increase in taxes 
receivable for both current and previous years. 
The Town’s investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake 
Energy has also contributed a healthy increase 
within. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-Financial Assets

The largest component of non-financial assets is 
the Town’s investment in tangible capital assets. 
All Town assets at the end of 2019 have been 
inventoried, valued, and recorded in an asset 
registry for accounting and reporting purposes. 
These assets are used to deliver programs and 
services to Town residents, businesses, and 
visitors. 

The net book value of tangible capital assets is 
$190.4 million (2018 - $187.3 million).  Historical 
costs are $275.2 million (2018 - $267 million) 
and total accumulated amortization was $84.8 
million (2018 - $79.8 million), implying that 
on average 30.80% (2018 – 29.89%) of the 
estimated useful life of Town assets have been 
utilized in the delivery of services. Amortization 
can be useful to estimate future capital 
spending requirements with the understanding 
that asset replacement costs may be 
significantly higher than historical costs. 

Liabilities

Liabilities in 2019 were $30.1 million (2018 - 
$26.9 million), an increase of $3.2 million. The 
increase is mostly associated with the securing 
of new debt related to Dee Road Pumphouse 
improvements, an increase in accounts 
payable balances which the Town expects to 
pay within the next year, and an increase in 
deferred revenue balances.  Deferred revenue 
is payments received in advance for services 
or goods not yet delivered.  In the Town’s 
case, a large portion of this is made up of 
Development Charge Funds for growth related 
infrastructure and services. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Accumulated Surplus

The Town’s accumulated surplus is composed of investments in tangible capital assets, reserve 
and reserve funds, and net equity in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. which is offset by unfunded 
and long-term liabilities.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

The consolidated statement of operations 
reports the annual surplus from operations 
during the accounting period. The statement 
shows the cost of providing Town services, 
the revenue recognized in the period and the 
difference between them.  

Revenues

Revenues in 2019 were $39.1 million (2018 
- $38.2 million), an increase of $0.9 million 
over the prior year. This increase is due to 
higher revenues from taxation, user fees, grant 
revenues (Provincial and Municipal), investment 
and interest income, Niagara-on-the-Lake 
Energy Inc. net income, and contributed assets 
which are offset slightly by decreases in Federal 
grants and donations.  

Taxation revenues, which accounts for 
property taxes and taxation from other 
governments, was $13.2 million (2018 - $12.4 
million), an increase of $0.8 million over the 
prior year.  

• Assessment growth for the Town of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake was 1.52% over the 
prior year.  

• Town Council approved a 2019 total budget 
increase of 6.59%. Overall, including the 
Town, Niagara Region, the Province of 
Ontario (for education purposes), and 
the Niagara Health System the typical 
residential property experienced a 3.83% 
increase on their property tax bill.  The 
Town’s Portion amounted to 1%. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

Expenses

Expenses in 2019 were $34.8 million (2018 - 
$32 million), an increase of $2.8 million over 
the prior year. General Government saw the 
largest increase (in dollars), while Planning & 
Development and Health Services were the only 
function experiencing a decrease in expenses. 
The remaining functional areas experienced 
increased expenses across the board.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   

The consolidated statement of change in net financial assets starts with the annual surplus and 
identifies changes in non-financial assets. This includes tangible capital asset acquisition and 
amortization that will utilize or add to the surplus amount to derive a net change in financial 
assets.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statement of cash flows 
reports changes in cash resulting from 
operations and shows how the Town financed 
its activities during the year and met its cash 
requirements.  

Reserves and Reserve Funds Overview

Although reserves and reserve funds are 
not formally reported directly in the financial 
statements, they are critical to financial 
management. Reserves and reserve fund 
balances form part of the accumulated surplus. 
Refer to note #7 in the financial statements for 
more reserve and reserve fund information.  

Reserves and reserve funds are established 
by Council. These funds are set aside to fund 
capital projects and future obligations. They 
are drawn upon to finance specific initiatives 
as designated by Council to minimize tax rate 
fluctuations due to unanticipated expenditures, 
revenue shortfalls, and ongoing programs.  

Reserve and reserve fund balances at the end 
of 2019 totalled $13.3 million ($13.4 million in 
2018), a decrease of $100,000 from the prior 
year. The reserve and reserve fund totals do 
not include development charges or unspent 
government grants as these amounts are 
recorded as deferred revenue on the Statement 
of Financial Position. Refer to note #4 in the 
financial statements for more deferred revenue 
information.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of  
The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Corporation of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
(the “Entity”), which comprise:  
 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019; 
 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended; 
 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then 
 ended; 
 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 
 and notes and schedule to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of  significant accounting policies  
 
(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2019 and 
its consolidated results of operations, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report.   
 
We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity‘s financial 
reporting process.  
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  
 
We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
 statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
 procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
 than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
 intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
 design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
 the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 
 internal control.  
 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
 reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
 management. 

 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
 basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
 material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
 significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
 conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
 in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
 if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
 are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
 report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
 continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
 statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
 represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
 fair presentation. 

 
 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
 matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
 findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
 identify during our audit.  

 
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business activities within the Group Entity to express an 
opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
or our audit opinion. 

 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
St. Catharines, Canada 
July 22, 2020 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 

 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 

 2019 2018 
 

 
Financial assets 

Cash 

 

 
 

$  22,734,227 

 

 
 

$  18,262,180 
Investments 
Taxes receivable 

Current year 

- 
 

1,494,345 

43,026 
 

1,241,090 
Previous years 829,178 763,090 

Accounts receivable 4,563,355 4,829,389 
Debt recoverable from others (note 6) 29,847 35,451 
Note receivable (note 3) 6,674,812 7,624,743 
Long-term investment (note 2) 20,564,632 19,502,263 

 56,890,396 52,301,232 
Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

10,958,524 
 

10,621,816 
Deferred revenue (note 4) 14,176,482 12,719,206 
Post-employment benefits (note 5) 1,147,868 1,175,414 
Net long term liabilities (note 6) 3,795,291 2,431,132 

 30,078,165 26,947,568 

Net financial assets 26,812,231 25,353,664 

 

Non-financial assets 
  

Tangible capital assets (note 13) 190,447,038 187,279,558 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 330,669 637,076 

 190,777,707 187,916,634 
Commitments (note 8) 
Contingent liabilities (note 9) 
Subsequent event (note 17) 
Accumulated surplus (note 7) $ 217,589,938 $ 213,270,298 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Signed on behalf of the Municipality: 

 
Lord Mayor 

 

 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Operations  

Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 

 

 
  Budget 2019 2018 
  (note 12)   
Revenues 

Taxation  $ 13,033,104 $ 13,175,952  $ 12,410,221 
User fees and charges 13,637,017 15,595,968 15,129,117 
Government of Canada grants (note 14) 535,220 1,046,981 1,695,817 
Province of Ontario grants (note 14) 1,415,559 1,572,233 1,547,102 
Other municipality funding (note 14) 80,000 239,105 196,255 
Deferred revenues earned 1,558,663 2,181,272 2,324,739 
Interest and penalties 330,000 378,359 342,024 
Investment income 462,273 674,892 638,260 
Donations 29,000 195,924 372,120 
Contributed assets 561,465 561,465 114,269 
Gain on disposition of tangible  

capital assets - - 576,618 
Other  2,158,313 1,895,578 1,568,364 
Equity income of  

 Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (note 2) - 1,562,369 1,246,519 
Total revenues  33,800,614  39,080,098  38,161,425 
 
Expenses 

General government  3,232,276  3,799,652  2,409,147 
Protection services 3,844,482 3,425,375 3,345,149 
Transportation services 7,780,777 7,691,797 7,349,169 
Environmental services 11,123,122 12,027,904 10,696,416 
Health services 449,297 604,533 644,511 
Recreation 3,821,543 5,645,857 5,403,102 
Planning and development 2,000,927 1,565,340 2,104,402 

Total expenses   32,252,424 34,760,458 31,951,896 
 
Annual surplus  1,548,190 4,319,640 6,209,529 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  213,270,298 213,270,298 207,060,769 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 214,818,488 $ 217,589,938 $ 213,270,298 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 63



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 

 

 
   2019  2018 
      
Annual surplus    $ 4,319,640  $ 6,209,529  
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets        (8,731,389) (14,258,143) 
Contributed tangible capital assets    (561,465) (114,269) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets    5,804,808  5,621,136 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets    201,133  681,813 
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets     119,433  (576,618) 
Change in inventories and prepaid expenses     306,407  (117,573) 
   1,458,567 (2,554,125) 
 
Net financial assets, beginning of year      25,353,664  27,907,789 
 
Net financial assets, end of year   $ 26,812,231 $ 25,353,664 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 64



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 

4 

 
  2019 2018 
    
Operations 

 Annual surplus $ 4,319,640  $ 6,209,529  
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,804,808 5,621,136 
Contributed assets (561,465) (114,269) 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy net income (1,562,369) (1,246,519) 
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 119,433 (576,618) 

  8,120,047  9,893,259  
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 

Taxes receivable (319,343) (345,140) 
Accounts receivable 266,034 (41,668) 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 306,407 (117,573) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 336,708 1,480,957 
Deferred revenue 1,457,276 124,301 
Post-employment benefits (27,546) 58,952 

Cash from operations 10,139,583 11,053,088 
 
Capital   

Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets  201,133  681,813  
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (8,731,389) (14,258,143) 

Cash from capital activities (8,530,256) (13,576,330) 
 
Investing  

Dividend received 500,000 500,000  
Decrease (Increase) in investments 48,630 (386) 
Decrease in note receivable 949,931 854,158 

Cash from investing 1,498,561 1,353,772 
 
Financing 

Increase in long-term debt 1,805,324  - 
Debt principal repayments (441,165) (611,437) 

Cash from financing 1,364,159 (611,437) 
 
Increase (decrease) in cash 4,472,047 (1,780,907) 
 
Cash, beginning of year 18,262,180 20,043,087 
 
Cash, end of year $ 22,734,227 $18,262,180 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the "Town") is a municipality in the Province of 
Ontario that provides municipal services such as fire, public works, planning, parks and recreation, 
library and other general government operations. 
 
1. Significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the Town are prepared by management in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”) as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the Town 
are as follows: 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

(i) Consolidated entities: 

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations, 
committees and local boards accountable for the administration of the Town’s financial 
affairs and resources to the Town which are owned or controlled by the Town except for 
the Town’s government business enterprise, Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc., which is 
accounted for on the modified equity basis of accounting as described below. These 
reporting entities and organizations include the Public Library Board. Interdepartmental 
and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these entities and 
organizations have been eliminated.  

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. ("NOTLEI") is accounted for on a 
modified equity basis, consistent with the accounting treatment for government business 
enterprises. Under the modified equity basis, NOTLEI’s accounting principles are not 
adjusted to conform with those of the Town, and inter-organizational transactions and 
balances are not eliminated. The Town recognizes its equity interest in the annual income 
or loss of NOTLEI in its Consolidated Statement of Operations with a corresponding 
increase or decrease in its investment asset account. Any dividends that the Town may 
receive from NOTLEI are reflected as reductions in the investment account.  

(ii) Partial-consolidated entities: 

The Niagara District Airport Commission is operated with a joint local board and is 
proportionately consolidated. The Town’s share is 6%. 

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions: 

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations 
of the school boards and the Regional Municipality of Niagara are not reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Trust funds: 

Trust funds and their related operations are not included in these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 1

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Basis of accounting: 

The Town follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are 
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as 
they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation 
of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not 
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets 
during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in 
net financial assets for the year. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes all directly attributable 
expenditures in the acquisition, construction, development and/or betterment of the asset 
required to prepare the asset for its intended use. 

Amortization is recorded to reflect the cost, net of anticipated residual value, associated 
with the use of the asset in providing government services on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. Work in progress assets are not amortized until the asset 
is available for productive use, at which time amortization commences. Gains and/or losses 
on the disposal of an asset are recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Operations in 
the year of disposal. 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair market value at 
the date of receipt and are recognized as revenue. Similarly, transfer of assets to third 
parties are removed from tangible capital assets and recorded as an expense equal to the 
net book value of the asset as at the date of the transfer. 

The historical cost of works of art or historical treasures have not been assigned to these 
assets nor disclosed on the consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 
Asset Class   Useful Life (Years) 
 
General Assets: 

Land improvements  5 to 60 
Buildings and fixtures  5 to 50 
Machinery and equipment  5 to 40 
Information technology  2 to 15 
Vehicles   5 to 20 
Other   5 to 50 
 

Infrastructure: 
Linear   10 to 80 
Street lighting   7 to 60 
Other   7 to 50 

 
 

Interest on debt incurred during construction of related tangible capital assets is expensed 
in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year incurred.  

(ii) Inventories: 

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and 
replacement cost. 

(d)  Deferred revenue: 

Deferred revenue represents licenses, permits, grants and other fees which have been 
collected, but for which the related services or inspections have yet to be performed. These 
amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the services are performed. 

(e)  Government transfers: 

Government transfers received are from federal and provincial governments. Transfers are 
recognized in the period in which the events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the 
transfers are authorized, eligibility criteria are met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts 
can be made except when, and to the extent that, stipulations by the transferor give rise to an 
obligation that meet the definition of a liability. Government transfers that meet the definition of 
a liability are recognized as revenue as the liability is extinguished. Government transfers are 
paid to community organizations. Government transfers paid are recognized as a liability and 
expense when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the 
recipient.   
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f)  Tax revenue: 
 

Taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset, 
the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred. 

(g) Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds: 

Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds represents development charge contributions, 
payments in lieu of parking and parkland and gas tax, levied or received under the authority of 
federal and provincial legislation.  These amounts have been collected but the related services 
have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the 
services are performed. 

(h) Investment income: 

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the funding 
government or provincial legislation, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added 
to the fund balance and forms part of the deferred revenue balance. 

(i) Other income: 

Other income is recognized as revenue when the service is performed. 

(j)  Investments: 

Investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase 
of these investments are amortized over the term of the investments.  When there has been a 
loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written 
down to recognize the loss. 

(k) Post-employment benefits: 

(i) The Town provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.  
These benefits include long-term disability, benefits under the Workplace Safety and 
Insurance Board (“WSIB”) Act, and extended health and dental benefits for early retirees. 

The costs of life insurance, benefits under WSIB, life insurance, and extended health and 
dental benefits are actuarially determined using management’s best estimate of salary 
escalation, earned days accumulated for certain employees payable at retirement, health 
care cost trends, long term inflation rates and discount rates. 

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over 
the periods of service provided by employees, such as service payments and health and 
dental benefits for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits 
method prorated on service.  Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the 
expected average service life of the employee group.  Any actuarial gains and losses 
related to the past service of employees are amortized over the expected average 
remaining service life of the employee group. 

 
  

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 69



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k)  Post-employment benefits (continued): 

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from 
time to time, such as obligations for workers' compensation and disability benefits for those 
on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period the events occur.  Any 
actuarial gains and losses that are related to these benefits are recognized immediately in 
the period they arise. 

(ii) The costs of multi-employer defined benefit pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario 
Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") pensions, are the employer's 
contributions due to the plan in the period. OMERS has been accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan since it is a multi-employer plan. 

(l)  Note receivable 

The note receivable is valued at cost. Recoverability is assessed annually and a valuation 
allowance is recorded when recoverability is impaired. The note receivable is written off when 
it is no longer recoverable. Recoveries of note receivable previously written off are recognized 
as revenue in the year received. Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned. Note receivable 
with significant concessionary terms, (such as non-interest bearing notes) are accounted for 
as a grant and presented as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  

(m)  Use of estimates: 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PSAS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include 
assumptions used in estimation provisions for accrued liabilities and in performing actuarial 
valuations of post-employment benefits liability and the valuation of contributed assets. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

 
  

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 70



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

2. Investments in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.: 

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. is represented by 1,001 common shares of the 
company. Summary financial information is as follows: 

Financial Position: 

 
  2019  2018 
 
Assets: 

Current $ 5,404,720 $ 5,571,410 
Capital  33,762,453  31,558,760 
Other non-current  6,730,839  6,159,333 
Regulatory balances  1,230,580  823,319 

Total assets and regulatory balances $ 47,128,592 $ 44,112,822 
 
Liabilities: 

Current $ 5,391,090 $ 6,185,159 
Notes payable to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  6,674,812  7,624,743 
Long-term debt  5,265,857  3,762,704 
Other  8,169,853  5,849,837 
Regulatory balances  1,062,348  1,188,525 

Equity  20,564,632 19,501,854 
Total liabilities, regulatory balances and equity $ 47,128,592 $ 44,112,822 

Operations: 
 

  2019  2018 
 
Revenue $ 32,481,247  $ 29,713,437 
Expenses (including income tax provision) 31,452,316 29,183,879 
Net movement in regulatory balances (net of tax)  533,438  716,961 
Net income and net movement in regulatory balances  1,562,369  1,246,519 
Dividend paid to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  (500,000)  (500,000) 
Change in investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 1,062,369 $ 746,519 

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake investment represented by: 
 
  2019  2018 
 
Investment in shares of the Corporation $ 7,054,844 $ 7,054,844 
Accumulated net income, net of dividends received  13,509,788 12,447,419 
Total investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 20,564,632 $ 19,502,263 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

3. Note receivable: 

The notes receivable are comprised of the following: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Note 1 $ 1,739,643 $ 2,099,635 
Note 2  1,664,326  1,954,706 
Note 3  1,240,843  1,430,402 
Note 4  2,030,000  2,140,000 
 
  $ 6,674,812 $ 7,624,743 
 
Note 1 bears interest at 7.25%, is unsecured and is repayable in the aggregate principal and 
interest of $500,000. Note 2 bears interest at 3.0%, is due on demand and is repayable in blended 
monthly payments of $29,409. Note 3 bears interest at 3.5%, is due on demand and is repayable 
in blended monthly payments of $19,640. Note 4 bears interest at 3.0% and is due on demand. 
The Town has waived its right to demand payment on notes 2 to 4 until January 1, 2021. These 
notes have been postponed in favour of the demand instalment loan owing by NOTLEI. The notes 
are unsecured.  

4. Deferred revenue: 

A requirement of PSAS is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue. These 
reserve funds are considered obligatory as Provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be 
used and, under certain circumstances, when these funds will be refunded. 

In the case of development charges, revenue recognition occurs after the funds have been 
collected and when the Town has approved the expenditures and used the funds for the capital 
project for which the development charges were raised. These funds have been set aside, as 
required by the Development Charges Act, to support the cost of growth related capital projects 
associated with new development. 

The deferred revenues are made up of the following: 
 
   Externally   
  restricted Revenue  

  2018 inflows earned 2019 
 
Building permit surplus $ 1,480,475 $ 272,482  510,992  1,241,965 
Canada gas tax  177,313  1,038,785  951,688  264,410 
Cash-in-lieu of parking  356,618  -  3,287  353,331 
Development charges  9,826,211  2,159,751  1,558,663  10,427,299 
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund 119,395  799,169  918,564  - 
Recreational land 327,249  317,627  108,330  536,546 
Main Street revitalization 53,137  -  -  53,137 
Provincial Modernization Fund -  725,000  -  725,000 
Other deferred 378,808  195,986  -  574,794 
  $12,719,206 $ 5,508,800 $ 4,051,524 $ 14,176,482 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities: 

The Town provides certain employees benefits which will require funding in future periods. These 
benefits include sick leave, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance ("WSIB") Act, and 
life insurance, extended health, and dental benefits to early retirees. 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Retiree benefits $ 569,676 $ 575,424 
Accrued vacation pay  308,065  328,339 
Accumulated sick leave  43,325  40,285 
Future payments required to WSIB  226,802  231,366 
 
  $ 1,147,868 $ 1,175,414 
 

Information about the Town’s benefit plans is as follows: 
 
  2019 2018 

Accrued benefit obligation:   
 Balance, beginning of year $ 1,257,510 $ 1,063,502 
 Current benefit cost  6,004  92,397 
 Interest  27,168  27,805 
 Actuarial loss  -  153,138 
 Benefits paid  (68,035)  (79,332) 

Balance, end of year  1,222,647  1,257,510 
    
Unamortized actuarial loss  (74,779)  (82,096) 
  
Liability for benefits $ 1,147,868 $ 1,175,414 
 

Amortization of the actuarial loss of $7,317 (2018 - $18,082) has been included in expenses on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
 
(i) Accumulated Sick Leave 

Under the Town’s sick leave benefit plan, employees can choose either carry forward up to 5 
unused days to the next year, have all unused credits paid out at the end of the year, or any 
combination of the two choices.  Credits are paid out at 50%.  The accrued benefit obligation 
and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 were determined by an actuarial 
valuation.  The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2018 as at December 31, 2017 year-
end. 
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5. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

(ii) Retiree Benefits 

The Town pays health care, dental, travel and life insurance benefits for early retirees to age 
65. The Town recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which the employees 
rendered the services. The accrued benefit liability and the expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 were determined by an actuarial valuation and analysis of changes made 
to plans since the last valuation. The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2018 for the 
December 31, 2017 year-end.  

(iii) Accrued WSIB 

The Town has elected to be treated as a Schedule 1 employer for the purposes of WSIB where 
a premium is paid to cover the Town's responsibilities under the Workplace Safety and 
Insurance Board Act ("WSIB"). WSIB has provided the Town an estimate of the value of the 
future benefits for which the Town is responsible. 

(iv) Actuarial Assumptions 

The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuations are as follows: 

Interest (discount rate): 

The accrued benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 4% (2018 - 4.0%). 

Inflation: 

Inflation was assumed to be 1.75% (2018 - 1.75%). 

Medical, dental and travel costs: 

Medical, dental and travel costs are assumed to increase at a rate of 6.42% in 2019 per year 
reducing by 0.3333% per year to 3.75% in 2027 and to 3.75% per year thereafter. 

Salary escalations: 

Future salary has been assumed to escalate at a rate of 2.75% per year (2018 - 2.75%). 

(v) Pension Agreements 

The Town makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund 
("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit 
plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees 
based on the length of service and rates of pay. 

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2019 was $764,601 (2018 - $706,011) for current 
service and is included as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of operations. 
Employees' contribution to OMERS in 2019 was $764,601 (2018 - $706,011). 

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 65 were being made at a rate of 
9% for earnings up to the yearly maximum pensionable earnings of $57,400 and at a rate of 
14.6% for earnings greater than the yearly maximum pensionable earnings. 
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5. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

(v) Pension Agreements (continued) 

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit at December 31, 2019 of $3.4 billion (2018 - $4.2 billion) 
based on an actuarial valuation of plan assets. 

6. Net long-term liabilities: 

(a) The balance of net long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial 
position is made up of the following: 

 
  2019 2018 
 
The Town has assumed responsibility for the 

payment of principal and interest charges on 
certain long-term liabilities issued by other 
municipalities.  $ 3,795,291 $ 2,431,132 

Of the long-term liabilities shown above, the  
responsibility for payment of principal and interest 
charges for tile drainage, have been assumed 
by individuals. (29,847) (35,451) 

 
Net long-term liabilities, end of year $ 3,765,444 $ 2,395,681 
 

(b) The long-term liabilities in (a) issued in the name of the municipality have been approved by 
by-law. The annual principal and interest payments required to service these liabilities are 
within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing. 

(c) Of the net long-term liabilities reported in (a) of this note, principal payments are as follows: 

 
2020 $ 549,863 
2021 333,786 
2022 344,765 
2023 294,293 
2024 304,458 
Thereafter 1,938,279 
 $ 3,765,444 

(d) Interest charges on long-term debt in the amount of $83,361 (2018 - $122,542) are included 
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, classified under the appropriate functional 
expense heading. The long-term debt bears interest at rates ranging from 1.35% to 10.45% 
payable semiannually.  The long-term liabilities mature at various times up to 2034. 
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7. Accumulated surplus: 

  2019 2018 
 
Invested in tangible capital assets $ 190,447,038  $ 182,279,558  
Operating fund  (1,977,171)  1,713,132 

 
Reserves and reserve funds  13,468,751  13,346,440 
Investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  20,564,632  19,502,263 
  222,503,250  216,841,393 
Amounts to be recovered 

Post-employment benefits  (1,147,868)  (1,175,414) 
Net long-term liabilities  (3,765,444)  (2,395,681) 

  (4,913,312)  (3,571,095) 
 $ 217,589,938 $ 213,270,298 
 
Reserve and reserve balances: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Reserves set aside by Council for specific purposes: 

Base mapping $ 700  $ 700 
Bridges and culverts 31,020 75,146 
Building vehicle and equipment 42,643 33,643 
By-law vehicle and equipment 32,096 26,096 
Capital levy 1,837,720 2,571,414 
Capital variance - 53,117 
Community centre 7,654 7,654 
Contingencies 325,786 325,786 
Corporate studies 202,692 277,109 
Dock area improvement  186,942  258,220 
Donations  146,670 54,194 
Election expenses 16,059 (3,941) 
Fleet replacement 267,943 359,115 
Grant and other 40,168 (13,411) 
Irrigation 521,750 416,680 
Ontario disabilities 135,213 116,875 
OMB appeals 155,731 155,731 
Parking revenue 1,266,096 1,169,927 
Sidewalk improvements (8,118) (8,118) 
Storm water management (52,797) - 
Street lighting 33,551 33,619 
Training and development 11,857 11,857 
Wastewater capital improvements 2,172,994 2,355,059 
Wastewater rate stabilization 228,428 228,428 
Water capital improvements 5,468,382 4,421,851 
Water rate stabilization 194,486 194,486 
Winter maintenance 85,192 85,192 
Working funds 50,000 50,000 
Total reserves $ 13,400,858 $ 13,256,429 
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7. Accumulated surplus (continued): 
 
Reserve and reserve balances (continued): 
  2019 2018 
Reserve funds set aside by Council for specific purposes: 

Bequest/Garden $ 4,422  $ 4,027 
Library development and computer (5,897) 21,657 
Library donations 12,757 7,716 
Recreation enhancement 56,611 56,611 
 67,893 90,011 

Total reserves and reserve funds $ 13,468,751 $ 13,346,440 
 

8. Commitments: 

(a) Capital expenditures 

The estimated future capital expenditures based on projects in progress at December 31, 2019 
is approximately $5,785,648 (2018 - $5,515,778) after deducting the expenditures incurred as 
at December 31, 2019.  These projects will be financed by grants, subsidies and long-term 
liabilities in future years. 

(b) Niagara Health System 

 The Town is currently committed to funding $3,500,000 of the local share of the construction 
costs of the Niagara Health System (“NHS”) hospital located in St. Catharines.  The Town has 
approved a plan to fund this commitment through annual tax levies in the years 2011 to 2031.  
The plan is dependent upon future councils approving this levy on an annual basis.  A balance 
of $1,606,042 is owing on this commitment at December 31, 2019 (2019 - $1,893,993) 

9.  Contingent liabilities: 

From time to time, the Town is subject to claims and other lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course 
of business, some of which may seek damages in substantial amounts, including punitive or 
extraordinary damages.  In respect of most outstanding claims, the Town believes that insurance 
coverage is adequate and that no material exposure exists on the eventual settlement of such 
litigation, therefore no provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements. The 
Town is currently named as a defendant in two matters related to former employees for which 
damages are unknown at this time. There may be exposure that exceeds the Town’s insurance 
coverage. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, the ultimate outcome is not 
yet known and the amount cannot be reasonably estimate.  

10. Contributions to Joint Board: 

The following contributions were made by the Town to: 

   2019 2018 
Niagara District Airport Commission $ 56,179 $ 51,778 

The Town’s share of the net assets of the Niagara District Airport Commission is approximately 
6%.  
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11. Segmented reporting: 

The Town is a lower tier municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens.  
Segmented information has been identified based on functional classification as categorized by the 
Financial Information Return. These classifications are as follows: 

(i) General Government:   

The mandate of this functional area is to provide political governance, administrative executive 
management and those expenses and revenues which are corporate in nature and cannot be 
easily apportioned to other departments. Reported in this functional area are departments such 
as Council, Clerks, CAO, Finance, Human Resources, Legal, Information Systems and Capital 
Assets. 

(ii) Protection services: 

Reported in this functional area are Fire and Building Services. The mandate of Fire Services 
is to provide emergency services through a range of services to protect the lives and property 
of the inhabitants of the Town. The mandate of Building Services is to inform and assist 
customers to ensure safe and orderly development and provide efficient delivery of building 
approvals, inspections and management systems. 

(iii) Transportation services: 

Reported in this functional area are Roads and Works. The mandate for Roads and Works is 
to provide quality road and traffic maintenance and operations to the residents and businesses 
of the Town. This area is also responsible for winter control. 

(iv) Environment services: 

Reported in this functional area are Sanitary, Storm and Water Systems. The mandate is to 
provide a safe and reliable water resource system and is responsible for the maintenance and 
operation of the systems and monitoring and administering environmental programs. 

(v) Health services: 

Reported in this functional area is Cemetery Services.  The mandate is to ensure the benefit 
and protection of each citizen who has purchased or has an interest in internment rights within 
each cemetery. Also included here is the Town’s commitment to the Niagara Health System 
hospital.  

(vi) Recreation: 

Reported in the functional area are Parks, Recreation and Culture.  The Parks department is 
responsible for the maintenance, improvement and beautification of various parks as well as 
the planning and construction of new parkland and open space.  The Recreation and Culture 
departments are responsible for the delivery of various related programs and the provision of 
facilities as well as the support of groups and organizations throughout the Town. 
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11. Segmented reporting (continued): 

(vii) Planning and Development: 

Reported in this functional area are Planning and Development.  Planning creates the policy 
framework and implementation tools required to shape the future of the Town.  Development 
is responsible for ensuring that the Town’s land development standards are achieved on all 
development applications. 

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly 
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis based on tax 
allocations based on budget. For grants received, the allocation is based on the purpose of the 
grant. For user fees and charges, the allocation is based on the nature of the user fee generated. 
The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 79



   

  

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
11. Segmented reporting (continued): 
 

2019        

 
General 

Government 

 

Protection 

 

Transportation 

 

Environment 

 

Health 

 

Recreation 

Planning and 

Development 

 

Total 

Revenues:         

Taxation $  3,821,154 $  1,676,187 $  3,557,987 $  - $  100,985 $  3,452,994 $  566,645 $  13,175,952 

User fees and charges 183,658 732,855 2,342,068 11,217,252 281,935 355,093 483,107 15,595,968 

Government grants 427,365 94,726 2,126,450 93,938 - 72,761 43,079 2,858,319 

Other 1,858,363 851,530 918,469 116,816 - 1,580,847 - 5,326,025 

Contributed assets 561,465 - - - - - - 561,465 

Equity income in NOTLEI Inc. 1,562,369 - - - - - - 1,562,369 

Total revenues 8,414,374 3,355,298 8,944,974 11,428,006 382,920 5,461,695 1,092,831 39,080,098 

Expenses:         

Salaries and wages 3,207,614 1,884,704 2,278,438 1,168,065 151,137 2,561,934 1,064,708 12,316,600 

Operating materials and supplies 649,024 507,697 1,128,369 773,963 115,267 1,446,095 134,176 4,754,591 

Contracted services 1,213,619 108,833 2,042,435 6,640,398 440 88,660 153,770 10,248,155 

Rents and financial expenses 231,287 - - 10,354 - 8,738 - 250,379 

Interfunctional transfers (2,778,614) 399,187 500,278 1,194,172 27,614 521,010 136,353 - 

Amortization 363,668 524,954 1,721,342 2,208,212 22,125 956,459 8,048 5,804,808 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 119,433 - - - - - - 119,433 

External transfers 765,737 - - - 287,950 1,800 66,158 1,121,645 

Debt service 27,884 - 20,935 32,740 - 61,161 2,127 144,847 

Total expenses 3,799,652 3,425,375 7,691,797 12,027,904 604,533 5,645,857 1,565,340 34,760,458 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  4,614,722 $  (70,077) $  1,253,177 $  (599,898) $  (221,613) $  (184,162) $  (472,509) $  4,319,640 
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11. Segmented reporting (continued): 
 

2018         

 
General 

Government 

 

Protection 

 

Transportation 

 

Environment 

 

Health 

 

Recreation 

Planning and 

Development 

 

Total 

Revenues:         

Taxation $  3,814,617 $  1,503,281 $  3,459,225 $  - $  79,135 $  3,109,204 $  444,759 $  12,410,221 

User fees and charges 214,445 778,424 2,209,378 10,421,007 221,652 366,574 917,637 15,129,117 

Government grants 484,100 90,398 950,122 1,387,533 - 506,697 20,324 3,439,174 

Other 2,287,905 512,092 540,464 731,188 - 1,750,476 - 5,822,125 

Contributed assets 114,269 - - - - - - 114,269 

Government business enterprise 1,246,519 - - - - - - 1,246,519 

Total revenues 8,161,855 2,884,195 7,159,189 12,539,728 300,787 5,732,951 1,382,720 38,161,425 

Expenses:         

Salaries and wages 2,783,903 1,875,656 2,194,374 907,062 175,894 2,417,476 1,131,211 11,485,576 

Operating materials and supplies 644,417 469,382 1,078,258 530,006 129,417 1,442,252 161,474 4,455,206 

Contracted services 637,996 117,128 1,872,325 5,989,051 1,840 115,662 576,102 9,310,104 

Rents and financial expenses 136,081 - - 27,930 - 8,962 - 172,973 

Interfunctional transfers (2,595,489) 385,614 460,551 1,051,991 30,377 487,882 179,074 - 

External transfers 448,835 - - - 287,951 - 47,573 784,359 

Amortization 324,533 488,157 1,721,030 2,145,190 19,032 916,670 6,524 5,621,136 

Debt service 28,871 9,212 22,631 45,186 - 14,198 2,444 122,542 

Total expenses 2,409,147 3,345,149 7,349,169 10,696,416 644,511 5,403,102 2,104,402 31,951,896 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  5,752,708 $  (460,954) $  (189,980) $  1,843,312 $  (343,724) $  329,849 $  (721,682) $  6,209,529 
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12. Budget data: 

The audited budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based upon the 
2018 operating and capital budgets approved by Council. The chart below reconciles the approved 
budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated financial statements. Budgets 
established for tangible capital asset acquisitions are on a project-oriented basis, the costs of which 
may be carried out over one or more years. Where amounts were budgeted for on a project-oriented 
basis, the actual amounts for 2019 were used in order to adjust the budget numbers to reflect the 
same basis of accounting that was used to report the actual results. In addition, to ensure 
comparability of expenses, the allocation of program support costs completed for actual reporting 
was also applied to the budget amounts. 

The chart below reconciles the approved budget figures reported on the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations. 

  Budget Amount 

Revenue: 
Operating budget as approved    $ 34,737,607   

Add: 
Development charges  1,558,663 
Contributed capital assets  561,465 
Gain on sale of TCA  - 
Building Code Act  510,992 
Recreational Land (the Planning Act)  108,330 

Less:    
Transfers from other funds  (2,816,451) 
Principal and dividends from NOTLEI  (859,992) 

Total revenue   33,800,614 

Expenses: 

Operating budget as approved  34,737,607  

Add: 
Amortization     5,804,808 
Employee future benefits  (27,546) 
Capital projects resulting in operating expenses  227,622 
Loss on Disposal of TCA  119,433 

Less:   
Transfer to reserves, including capital  (8,071,542) 
Debt principal payments  (537,958) 
 

Total expenses   32,252,424 

Annual surplus   $ 1,548,190 
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13.  Tangible capital assets: 
 

(a)  Work in progress: 

Work in progress having a value of $2,323,369 (2018 - $5,147,011) is not depreciated.  
Depreciation of these assets commence when the assets are placed in service. No interest 
was capitalized during the period. 

(b)  Contributed capital assets: 

Contributed capital assets are recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. The 
value of contributed assets during the year is $561,465 (2017 - $114,269). In 2019, parcels of 
land were transferred to the Town which service various developments.  The lands contributed 
provide servicing for storm sewer systems, walkways and trails, and parkland. 

(c)  Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair market value could not be made for a tangible capital asset, the asset 
was recognized at a nominal value. Nominal values totaling $nil (2018 - $nil) have been 
assigned to Buildings, Land, Machinery and Equipment, Land Improvements, and Linear Asset 
categories. 

(d)  Works of art and historical treasures: 

No works of art or historical treasures are held by the Town. 
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13. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

 
 
2019 
General 

 
Opening 

NBV 

 
Opening 

Cost 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Disposals 

 
Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Amortization 

 
 

Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Total 

Land $6,284,376 $6,284,376 $561,465  $               - $6,845,841 $                  - $                  - $              - $                  - $6,845,841 

Land improvements  4,502,200 6,620,577 486,577 6,501 7,100,653 2,118,377 252,348 6,501 2,364,224 4,736,429 

Buildings and fixtures 18,387,072 28,812,142 118,772 - 28,930,914 10,425,070 756,311 - 11,181,381 17,749,533 

Machinery and equipment 5,019,440 7,796,346 558,874 32,616 8,322,604 2,776,906 470,227 26,866 3,220,267 5,102,337 

Vehicles 3,973,660 8,558,589 889,546 470,641 8,977,494 4,584,929 559,431 356,700 4,787,660 4,189,834 

Information technology 562,384 1,753,731 126,087 100,393 1,779,425 1,191,347 196,102 100,393 1,287,056 492,369 

Exterior lighting 1,901,738 3,330,540 168,166 40,000 3,458,706 1,428,802 174,753 40,000 1,563,555 1,895,151 

Subtotal:  General assets 40,630,870 63,156,301 2,909,487 650,151 65,415,637 22,525,431 2,409,172 530,460 24,404,143 41,011,494 

Infrastructure           

Linear assets  137,282,951 192,206,149 4,032,287 415,671 195,822,765 54,923,198 3,240,622 216,830 57,946,990 137,875,775 

Streetlighting 1,572,045 2,494,873 27,711 2,036 2,520,548 922,828 70,924 - 993,752 1,526,796 

Other 2,646,681 4,087,214 - 88,051 3,999,163 1,440,533 84,090 87,309 1,437,314 2,561,849 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets  141,501,677 198,788,236 4,059,998 505,758 202,342,476 57,286,559 3,395,636 304,139 60,378,056 141,964,420 

Work in progress           

Opening balance 5,147,011 5,147,011 9,292,853 (744) 14,440,608 - - - - 14,440,608 

Internally transferred - -    (6,969,484) -      (6,969,484) - - - - (6,969,484) 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 5,147,011 5,147,011 2,323,369 (744) 7,471,124 - - - - 7,471,124 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2019 

$187,279,558 $267,091,548  $9,292,854 $1,155,165 $275,229,237 $79,811,990  $5,804,808 $834,599 $84,782,199  $190,447,038 
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13. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

 
 
2018 
General 

 
Opening 

NBV 

 
Opening 

Cost 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Disposals 

 
Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Amortization 

 
 

Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Total 

Land $5,864,649 $5,864,649 $421,094   $1,367   $6,284,376 $                  - $                  - $              - $                  - $6,284,376 

Land improvements  2,764,537 4,663,618 1,956,959 - 6,620,577 1,899,081 219,296 - 2,118,377 4,502,200 

Buildings and fixtures 15,598,328 25,395,533 3,499,311 82,702 28,812,142 9,797,205 705,216 77,351 10,425,070 18,387,072 

Machinery and equipment 3,695,670 6,077,278 1,755,161 36,093 7,796,346 2,381,608 421,776 26,478 2,776,906 5,019,440 

Vehicles 4,282,016 8,530,743 304,600 276,754 8,558,589 4,248,727 578,858 242,656 4,584,929 3,973,660 

Information technology 503,977 1,617,473 273,104 136,846 1,753,731 1,113,496 213,831 135,980 1,191,347 562,384 

Exterior lighting 1,682,672 2,953,533 379,678 2,671 3,330,540 1,270,861 160,434 2,493 1,428,802 1,901,738 

Subtotal:  General assets 34,391,849 55,102,827 8,589,907 536,433 63,156,301 20,710,978 2,299,411 484,958 22,525,431 40,630,870 

Infrastructure           

Linear assets  134,587,854 186,508,652 5,915,115 217,618 192,206,149 51,920,798 3,166,296 163,896 54,923,198 137,282,951 

Streetlighting 1,605,109 2,456,355 38,518 - 2,494,873 851,246 71,582 - 922,828 1,572,045 

Other 2,668,943 4,025,629 61,585 - 4,087,214 1,356,686 83,847 - 1,440,533 2,646,681 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets  138,861,906 192,990,636 6,015,218 217,618 198,788,236 54,128,730 3,321,725 163,896 57,286,559 141,501,677 

Work in progress           

Opening balance 5,379,722 5,379,722 14,371,661 - 19,751,383 - - - - 19,751,383 

Internally transferred - - (14,604,372) - (14,604,372) - - - - (14,604,372) 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 5,379,722 5,379,722 (232,711) - 5,147,011 - - - - 5,147,011 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2018 

$178,633,477 $253,473,185  $14,372,414 $754,051 $267,091,548 $74,839,708  $5,621,136 $648,854 $79,811,990  $187,279,558 
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14. Government transfers: 

Government transfers do not include payment in lieu of taxes received from Federal and Provincial 
governments.  These amounts are included with taxation revenue on the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations: 
 
  Budget 2019 2018 
 
Operating transfers: 

Federal $ 4,000 $ 95,293 $ 20,231 
Provincial 619,261  653,669  682,175 
Upper-Tier/Other Municipalities 80,000  239,105  189,948 
 703,261  988,067  892,354 

 
Capital transfers: 

Federal 531,220  951,688  1,675,596 
Provincial 796,298  918,564  864,927 
Upper -Tier/Other Municipalities -  -  6,307 

  1,327,518  1,870,252  2,546,830 
 

Total transfers $ 2,030,779 $ 2,858,319 $ 3,439,184 
 

Government transfers paid are included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and are 
summarized in Note 11 - Segmented Information under External Transfers. 

15. Trust funds: 

Trust funds administered by the Town amounting to $1,116,044 (2018 - $1,098,730) have not been 
included in these Consolidated financial statements. 

16. Comparative Information: 

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 
the current year. There is no impact to accumulated surplus as a result of the reclassification. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 

 

 
 
17. Subsequent event: 

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization.  This has resulted in governments worldwide, including the Canadian, Ontario 
and municipal governments, enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. 
These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods 
and social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally and in Ontario 
resulting in an economic slowdown.  Governments  and  central  banks  have  reacted with  
significant  monetary  and  fiscal  interventions  designed  to stabilize economic conditions however 
the success of these interventions is not currently determinable.  

The Town declared a state of emergency under the Emergency Management Act Ontario, on 
March 23, 2020.  The declaration of a state of emergency provides the Mayor with the ability to 
take action and make orders, as necessary, to protect the health, safety and welfare of residents. 
In addition, at the time of approval of these financial statements, the Town has experienced the 
following indicators of financial implications and undertaken the following activities in relation to the 
COVID-19 pandemic:  

o Experienced temporary declines in the fair value of investments and investment income 

o Closure of parks and recreation facilities and administrative buildings to the date of the auditors’ 
report based on public health recommendations  

o Temporary termination of employees in non-essential services 

o Suspension of penalties and interest on overdue amounts 

o Mandatory working from home requirements for those able to do so 

The Town continues to monitor the guidance from the Provincial government around opening of 
businesses and attractions.  The current challenging economic climate may lead to adverse 
changes in cash flows, reduction of service levels and budgetary constraints, which may also have 
a direct impact on the Town’s revenues, annual surplus or deficit and reserve and reserve funds in 
the future.  The situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact on the 
Town, surrounding economy and services are not known at this time.  

At this time, these factors present uncertainty over future cash flows, may cause significant 
changes to the assets or liabilities and may have a significant impact on future operations.  An 
estimate of the financial effect is not practicable at this time.   
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
SCHEDULE OF LIBRARY FUND ACTIVITIES 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  Budget 2019 2018 

 
Revenues: 

Development charges $ - $ 27,406 $ 60,189 
Municipal grant 717,459 717,459 686,377 
Donations 2,000 3,960 8,465 
Provincial grants 35,276 59,488 34,824 
Miscellaneous 32,700 37,585 36,106 
Other grants 4,000 12,274 10,673 
 791,435 858,172 836,634 

 
Expenditures: 

Amortization 125,100 125,100 121,061 
Insurance 7,570  6,740  7,427 
Licensing and computer support 18,500 22,108 16,327 
Memberships 1,500 2,002 2,078 
General library expenses 21,500 22,958 27,804 
Office supplies 40,800 55,732 50,105 
Professional development 3,500 3,717 5,359 
Professional fees 3,000 1,520 6,709 
Program expenditures 9,500 18,894 12,730 
Public relations 3,000 1,469 2,838 
Purchases for resale 250 - - 
Rent 60,000 60,000 60,000 
Telephone 1,800 3,177 2,819 
Wage and benefits 613,415 644,502 605,740 
Workshops  3,000 1,534 1,376 
 912,425 969,453 922,373 

Annual deficit (121,000) (111,281) (85,739) 
Add:  Amortization of tangible capital assets  125,100 121,061 
Less:  Acquisition of tangible capital assets  (53,084) (140,613) 
Transfers to reserve fund 18,500 5,041 18,915 
Adjusted annual deficit $ 102,500 $ (34,224) $ (86,376) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of The 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

  
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the trust funds of The Corporation of the 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the “Entity”), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019,  
 the statement of operations for the year then ended,  
 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
 and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 
 
(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2019, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion.  Our conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.   

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 
July 22, 2020
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Financial Position – Trust Funds 
 
As at December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care & Preneeds 2019 2018 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
Assets 

 Cash   $1,002,099 $ 138,237 $1,140,336 $ 1,115,707 

Liabilities 

 Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (note 2) 18,767 5,525 24,292 16,977 
  $ 983,332 $ 132,712 $1,116,044 $ 1,098,730 

 
Fund Balances 

Fund balances $ 983,332 $ 132,712 $1,116,044 $ 1,098,730 

 $ 983,332 $ 132,712 $1,116,044 $ 1,098,730 

 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Operations – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care &  Preneeds 2019 2018 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 947,750 $ 150,980 $1,098,730 $ 1,056,860 
 
Receipts: 
 Care & maintenance agreements 35,582  -   35,582 39,026 
 Interest earned     22,041  3,357  25,398  20,736 
      57,623  3,357  60,980  59,762 
 
Expenditures:  
 Interest transferred      22,041  -  22,041  17,892 
 Cemetery preneeds   -  21,625  21,625  - 
      22,041  21,625  43,666  17,892 
 
Excess (deficiency) of receipts over expenditures  35,582  (18,268)  17,314  41,870 

Fund balance, end of year $ 983,332 $ 132,712 $1,116,044 $ 1,098,730 

 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Cash Flows – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 with comparative information for 2018 
 
  2019 2018 
    
Operations: 
 Excess of receipts over expenditures $ 17,314 $ 41,870 
 
Sources (Uses): 

 Change in due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  7,315  10,475 
 
Increase in cash 24,629 52,345 
 
Cash, beginning of year 1,115,707 1,063,362 
 
Cash, end of year $ 1,140,336 $ 1,115,707 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Trust Funds Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The financial statements of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake trust funds are 
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
(“PSAS”) established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada. 

(a) Basis of accounting: 

(i) Receipts and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 

(ii) The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and 

measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result 
of the receipt of goods and services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

 

2. Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake: 

The amounts owing to The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake are non-interest bearing 
with no fixed terms of repayment. 

 

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 95



STATISTICAL REVIEW



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016                    2015                   2014                   2013                   

General Statistics

Households 7,026.00                       7,069.00                                          6,919                              7,090                   6,446                  6,115                  5,969                  

Population 17,511.00                     17,511.00                                       17,511                            17,511                 15,400                15,400                15,400                

Municipal Workforce Profile

Full-time Positions 97.00                             96.00                                               93 88                        87                       81                       83                       

Contract Employees 26.00                             107.00                                             86 77                        75                       78                       78                       

Number of Lane Kilometres in Road System 477.00                          475.00                                             475 472                      472                     466                     461                     

Total Hectares in the Town 13,283.00                     13,283.00                                       13283 13,283                 13,283                13,283                13,283                

Number of Building Permits Issued 402 530 568 616                      727                     766                     538                     

Total Value of Building Permits Issued 120,645,688.00           96,640,209.00                                $133,955,727 $101,199,425 $126,931,702 $150,906,774 $184,947,270
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016                    2015                   2014                   2013                   

Taxation Statistics

Taxable Assessment

Residential 3,961,385,384.00       3,719,402,387                           3,442,759,833                3,241,162,167     3,017,517,661     2,832,095,981     2,681,231,058     

Multi-Residential 14,470,825.00             16,526,990                                15,947,775                     15,706,000          12,955,555         16,259,138         14,263,765         

Commercial 760,302,064.00           699,819,604                              652,795,316                   611,146,767        577,696,514       417,325,855       387,610,987       

Industrial 47,553,372.00             45,697,981                                42,496,131                     39,659,308          36,431,133         35,724,143         32,015,094         

Farmland 494,516,457.00           445,463,201                              401,259,800                   333,741,525        348,733,781       332,748,056       320,372,663       

Pipeline 17,983,879.00             17,390,000                                16,777,750                     16,111,000          15,748,713         15,145,000         14,784,250         

Managed Forests 1,232,094.00               797,000                                     666,225                          541,800               512,525              483,250              453,975              

5,297,444,075           4,945,097,163                           4,572,702,830                4,258,068,567     4,009,595,882     3,649,781,423     3,450,731,792     

Tax Levy

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 12,545,156.00             11,784,195.00                                11,179,872                     10,668,156          10,196,916         9,386,053           8,957,194           

Niagara Region 33,735,634.00             31,575,471.00                                30,144,564                     28,840,572          27,575,068         25,402,444         23,437,945         

Education 15,144,905.00             14,734,824.00                                14,371,523                     14,168,239          13,698,314         12,627,923         11,663,229         

61,425,695                58,094,490                                55,695,959                     53,676,967          51,470,298         47,416,420         44,058,368         

Current Year's Tax Collections 58,594,183.00             56,520,320.00                                53,796,498                     51,332,868          49,598,989         44,804,309         41,330,270         

Current Year's Tax Collections as a 

Percentage of Current Tax Levy 95.4% 97.3% 96.6% 95.6% 96.4% 94.5% 93.8%

Total Tax Arrears 2,323,523.00               2,004,180.00                                  1,659,040                       1,645,837            2,473,184           2,763,391           3,120,239           

Total Tax Arrears as a Percentage of

Current Tax Levy 3.8% 3.4% 3.0% 3.1% 4.8% 5.8% 7.1%

Top Ten Largest Corporate Property Taxpayers in 2019

Owner

Owner ID Taxes Paid Name Assessment Assessment Value $

The Outlet Collection (Niagara THEOU00001    5,319,125.81 The Outlet Collection (Niagara240,856,000.00    223,507,308       

Lais Hotel Properties Limited LAISH00001    2,365,635.67 Lais Hotel Properties Limited 95,813,000.00      99,907,460           

White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated WHITE00019        495,326.52 White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated18,339,000.00      20,636,000         

Niagara Falls Bridge Commission NIAGA00001        421,034.35 Niagara Falls Bridge Commission31,357,000.00      31,161,000         

Niagara York Road Inc NIAGA00049        381,757.43 Niagara York Road Inc 16,624,000.00      15,901,972         

Celca Holdings Limited CELCA00001        308,275.33 Celca Holdings Limited 14,995,000.00      14,488,500         

Pleasant Manor Retirement Village PLEAS00002        262,892.77 Pleasant Manor Retirement Village19,874,000.00      19,519,500         

Xinjiade Canada Inc XINJI00001        242,934.66 Xinjiade Canada Inc 10,420,000.00      10,121,000         

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. ENBRI00001        227,553.21 Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 9,882,000.00         9,583,629           

Finer Space Trust Inc FINER00001        221,738.16 Finer Space Trust Inc 9,877,000.00         9,274,500           

Top Ten Assessment Total 454,100,869       

% of Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 55.0%

% of Total Taxable Assessment 8.6%

Total Residential Assessment 4,471,604,760     

Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 825,839,315       

Total Taxable Assessment 5,297,444,075     
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016                    2015                   2014                   2013                   

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Financial Assets

Cash 22,734,227.00             18,262,180.00                                20,043,087                     20,000,557 17,945,508 22,823,779         20,868,166         

Short-term investments 43,026.00                                       42,640                            

Taxes receivable 2,323,523.00               2,004,180.00                                  1,659,040                       1,645,837 2,473,184 2,763,391           3,120,239           

Accounts receivable 4,563,355.00               4,829,389.00                                  4,787,721                       3,138,727 3,248,553 3,065,014           2,308,944           

Debt recoverable from others 29,847.00                     35,451.00                                       40,737                            51,596 66,979 40,235                53,787                

Note receivable 6,674,797.00               7,624,743.00                                  8,478,901                       9,306,723 7,788,957 3,304,613           3,800,929           

Long-term investment 20,564,632.00             19,502,263.00                                18,755,744                     17,699,729 17,188,850 16,957,381         14,737,612         

Total financial assets 56,890,381 52,301,232 53,807,870 51,843,169 48,712,031 48,954,413         44,889,677         

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,958,508.00             10,621,816.00                                9,140,858                       8,110,182 9,071,102 9,045,037           7,896,257           

Lease purchase agreements -                                  -                       -                      -                      18,510                

Deferred revenue 14,176,482.00             12,719,206.00                                12,594,905                     11,975,057 10,941,704 9,457,952           8,577,623           

Post-employment benefits 1,147,869.00               1,175,414.00                                  1,116,462                       1,121,146 1,063,097 1,040,487           1,051,535           

Net long-term liabilities 3,795,291.00               2,431,132.00                                  3,047,855                       3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945           3,777,782           

Total financial liabilities 30,078,150                26,947,568                                25,900,080                     24,855,490 25,310,370 22,777,421         21,321,707         

Net financial assets (net debt) 26,812,231 25,353,664 27,907,790 26,987,679 23,401,661 26,176,992         23,567,970         

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets 190,447,038.00           187,279,558.00                             178,633,477                   174,424,724 174,016,612 168,286,717       165,296,055       

Inventories and prepaid 330,669.00                   637,076.00                                     519,503                          395,973 413,327 198,754              319,708              

Total non-financial assets 190,777,707              187,916,634                              179,152,980                   174,820,697 174,429,939 168,485,471       165,615,763       

Accumulated surplus 217,589,938 213,270,298 207,060,769 201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463       189,183,733       
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016                    2015                   2014                   2013                   

Statement of Financial Position Statistics

Tangible Capital Asset Additions 8,731,431.00               14,258,141.00                                9,716,547                       6,894,243 10,457,783 7,596,665           6,449,237           

Net Long-term Liabilities 3,795,291.00               2,431,132.00                                  3,047,855                       3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945           3,777,782           

Per Capita $216.74 $138.83 $174.05 $208.39 $274.97 $210.00 $245.31

Percentage of Tax Levy 6.18% 4.18% 5.47% 6.80% 8.23% 6.82% 8.57%

Gross Debt

Supported by Taxes 3036991 1,145,760 1,245,520                       1,343,840 1,440,720 193,160              215,160              

Supported by Non-tax Revenue 758300 1,285,372 1,802,335                       2,305,266 2,793,747 3,040,785           3,562,622           

Net Long-term Liabilities 3,795,291 2,431,132 3,047,855 3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945           3,777,782           

Debt Charges for the Year

Principal Payments 435,561                        611,437.00                                     590,393                          569,978 555,129 530,285              816,943              

Interest Charges 142,720                        120,098.00                                     128,393                          149,305 127,307 130,785              164,519              

Annual Debt Repayment Limit 7,738,195                     7,250,631.00                                  6,990,743                       5,925,006 5,440,877 4,383,778           3,714,669           

Accumulated Surplus 217,589,938                213,270,298.00                             207,060,769                   201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463       189,183,733       

2019 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 99



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016                    2015                   2014                   2013                   

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Revenue by Source

Taxation 13,175,952.77             12,410,220.97                                11,786,633                     11,338,711 10,644,585 9,821,497           9,392,979           

User fees and charges 15,595,968.00             15,129,117.00                                14,114,544                     12,746,106 11,549,046 11,063,963         10,887,069         

Government of Canada 1,046,981.00               1,695,817.00                                  1,345,431                       474,196 451,143 705,787              585,464              

Province of Ontario 1,572,233.00               1,547,102.00                                  1,478,502                       896,734 1,242,019 968,943              1,093,259           

Other municipal funding 239,105.00                   196,255.00                                     153,909                          188,485 320,197 303,007              255,769              

Development levies earned 2,181,272.00               2,324,739.00                                  1,795,008                       1,997,029 2,196,397 2,219,911           1,935,219           

Interest and penalties 378,359.00                   342,024.00                                     323,552                          376,336 424,426 463,989              591,799              

Investment income 674,892.00                   638,260.00                                     556,820                          531,874 478,637 469,434              536,132              

Donations 195,924.00                   372,120.00                                     419,093                          197,592 66,089 301,010              196,570              

Miscellaneous income/other 2,457,043.00               2,259,251.00                                  1,617,605                       2,067,104 1,768,916 1,713,544           1,586,381           

NOTLEI net income 1,562,369.00               1,246,519.00                                  1,663,472                       1,010,879 658,472 2,757,468           993,368              

Total revenue by source 39,080,099 38,161,425 35,254,569 31,825,046 29,799,927 30,788,553         28,054,009         

328,987.77                   

Expense by Function 

General Government 3,799,652.77               2,409,148                                        2,375,773                       2,512,972 2,377,281 2,123,697           1,548,390           

Protection 3,425,375.00               3,345,149.00                                  3,021,714                       2,717,109 2,810,677 2,730,652           2,722,289           

Transportation 7,691,797.00               7,349,169.00                                  6,765,464                       6,154,940 5,591,326 5,201,128           5,362,607           

Environment 12,027,904.00             10,696,416.00                                9,856,149                       9,716,949 9,425,157 8,917,286           8,872,261           

Health 604,533.00                   644,510.00                                     564,610                          539,679 608,744 620,431              646,656              

Recreation 5,645,857.00               5,403,102.00                                  5,542,527                       4,734,811 4,780,295 4,649,966           4,250,977           

Planning and Development 1,565,340.00               2,104,402.00                                  1,768,481                       1,471,811 1,110,307 1,066,663           1,139,544           

Total expenses by function 34,760,459                31,951,896                                29,894,718                     27,848,271 26,703,787 25,309,823         24,542,724         

Annual Surplus 4,319,640.00               6,209,529.00                                  5,359,851                       3,976,775 3,169,137 5,478,730           3,511,285           

Other Comprehensive Income NOTLEI (107,457)                         

Accumulated surplus, beginning 213,270,298.00           207,060,769.00                             201,808,375                   197,831,600 194,662,463 189,183,733       185,672,448       

Accumulated surplus, ending 217,589,938              213,270,298                              207,060,769                   201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463       189,183,733       

Analysis of Expenses by Object

Salaries and wages 12,316,600.00             11,485,577.00                                10,132,563                     9,979,539 9,245,742 9,078,851           8,981,465           

Operating materials and supplies 4,754,592.00               4,455,206.00                                  3,958,395                       4,289,480 4,177,896 3,391,073           3,716,716           

Contracted services 10,248,155.00             9,310,104.00                                  9,022,565                       7,295,951 7,038,626 6,946,031           6,203,065           

Rents and financial expenses 369,811.77                   172,972.97                                     503,821                          286,457 339,487 259,844              203,013              

External transfers 1,121,645.00               784,358.00                                     819,792                          700,995 623,140 763,989              673,195              

Amortization 5,804,808.00               5,621,136.00                                  5,326,092                       5,142,525 4,908,318 4,701,656           4,596,245           

Loss on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets -                                                    -                       241,013 34,367                -                      

Debt service 144,847.00                   122,542.00                                     131,490                          153,324 129,565 134,012              169,025              

Total expenses by object 34,760,459 31,951,896 29,894,718 27,848,271 26,703,787 25,309,823         24,542,724         
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Fire & Emergency

Services

1593 Four Mile Creek Rd.

PO Box 100, Virgil ,  ON

L0S 1T0

905-468-3266

firedepartment@notl .com

Photo Courtesy of The Lake Report
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“Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services is a solid foundation our community
can consistently rely on. Our volunteer
firefighters show up for citizens on what is often
the worst day of their lives, putting themselves in
harm’s way to ensure their safety. With health
and safety measures a top priority and
prevention and education a keen focus, they are
dedicated to safeguarding their members while
maintaining an environment upon which all who
reside in, conduct business in or visit Niagara-
on-the-Lake can feel secure. As you will see
from the annual report, they excel at
professionalism, proactively streamlining
operations to ensure effective and efficient
service. Town Council and I will continue to
support our Fire Department so they can
continue to support our residents, businesses
and visitors.”

- Betty Disero
Lord Mayor

 

MESSAGE FROM
THE LORD MAYOR
& INTERIM CAO 

“Our firefighters are a key part of the Town’s

success. They protect and safeguard

residents, visitors, and property owners

through community risk reduction and

emergency response. The challenges

presented by a growing population, increasing

density, and surges in seasonal demand for

service must be addressed efficiently and

effectively. The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake

is committed to sustainable, predictable

funding that allows us to maintain safe

equipment, apparatus and facilities to support

our volunteer firefighters’ service to our

citizens.”

- Sheldon Randall 
Interim CAO

 



Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services would
like to acknowledge and
remember the passing of
Captain Mike Vriens, who
passed away July 27th,
2019 after a long and
courageous battle with
cancer.
 
Captain Vriens served as a
member of Niagara-on-the-
Lake Fire & Emergency
Services for 34 years,
proving to be a valuable
and integral member of
Station 1 in the Old Town
District which he served.
 
Mike is remembered by
family, friends, and fellow
firefighters for a lifetime of
friendship and service in
the town he loved so much.
Captain Mike Vriens will be
incredibly missed, but
never forgotten.

R E M E M B E R I N G
C A P T A I N  
M I K E  V R I E N S



2019
HIGHLIGHTS
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During 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services
was involved in numerous events consisting of Emergency
Response, Fire Prevention, and Public Education. The
following sections highlight some of the many
accomplishments made over the previous year.



2019
HIGHLIGHTS
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198 
ALARM  ACTIVATIONS
 

This represents any call that was initially

dispatched as a remote alarm, or alarm

activation in either a commercial, or

residential occupancy. 

153
MOTOR  VEHICLE

COLLISIONS
 

Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters

respond to a variety of locations for

MVCs ranging from residential

roadways, to the Garden City

Skyway.

30
FIRE  CALLS

Any report of a possible fire is

encompassed in this category. This

includes vehicle, structure, rubbish, and

brush fires.

642
TOTAL  INCIDENTS
 

This is the total number of incidents

Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters

responded to throughout 2019.



263 inspections were conducted across
Niagara-on-the-Lake for compliance with the
Ontario Fire Code.

Responded to 642 emergencies,
representing a 5.7% decrease compared to
2018.

Performed over 12,000 hours
of training.

Educated 1150 children through
presentations, events, workshops, and

displays.

Attended 253 homes as part of the SAFE
HOME Residential Smoke & Carbon

Monoxide Alarm Program.
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2019 HIGHLIGHTS

The above information displays the number of each call type and
location Niagara-on-the Lake Fire & Emergency Services attended in
2019. Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services tracks
information regarding call types and locations to ensure data is the
driving force for any future fire protection service decisions. When it
comes to fire service data, visual representation is critical.

CALLS BY TYPE



This infographic breaks down the

percentage of calls that happened in

each of the five geographical areas

within Niagara-on-the-Lake.

 

Building off the data from the above

heat map, this provides greater detail

as to the station area where the

majority of incidents are taking place.

This heat map identifies locations that
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency services responded to
over the course of 2019. The brighter
coloured locations on this map
represent areas with a higher volume
of calls than the areas with blue, or no
colour.
 
This heat map allows for informed
data driven decision making within the
department.
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2019 HIGHLIGHTS

HEAT MAPPING

CALLS BY STATION Old Town

Glendale

Virgil

Queenston

St. Davids

FIREHOUSE SOFTWARE

In 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire
& Emergency Services began
utilizing Firehouse Database
Management Software to track
station response, training,
incidents, and equipment.



FIRE CHIEF'S
MESSAGE
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This report highlights many of the valuable
initiatives and programs that our staff and
volunteers contribute to daily, as well as
presents data and information on the delivery
of many of our critical services. Niagara-on-
the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services has a
renewed focus on data and analysis, both of
which enable and inform the evidence-based
decision-making process.
 
Looking back, it has been an incredibly
demanding year but has also proven to be a
very successful year. I am honoured to serve
alongside such hardworking and
compassionate firefighters that demonstrate
such commitment to their community.
 
Furthermore, I am thankful for the ongoing
support that we receive from Lord Mayor
Disero, Town Council, and Interim CAO
Sheldon Randall, without which we would be
unable to deliver the excellent service that the
public has come to expect. Council,
residents, and firefighters alike can be proud
of the community-focused, data-driven,
outcome-focused, strategic-minded, well
organized, properly equipped, and properly
staffed and trained fire department that we
have become.
 
Sincerely,
 
 
 
Nick Ruller, MA
Fire Chief & CEMC
 

On behalf of the men and women who

comprise Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &

Emergency Services, I am proud to

present our 2019 Annual Report. Niagara-

on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services’

staff and volunteers are committed to

providing exceptional customer service to

our residents and visitors through

community risk reduction and emergency

response. As Fire Chief, I am incredibly

proud of each member of our organization

as they work tirelessly toward continuous

personal and organizational improvement.

 

As the fastest growing municipality in the

Niagara Region, we are faced with

numerous challenges maintaining a

resilient and sustainable system that will

be there when the community needs us

the most. Some of these challenges

include increased training requirements

for volunteer firefighters, seasonal density

and demand issues related to tourism,

recruitment and retention of volunteer

firefighters, and ensuring that surge

capacity and capability exists to respond

to major events.



Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services delivers exceptional customer service
through community risk reduction and emergency response. This is achieved through
the delivery of programs that focus on education, prevention and preparedness, and
the effective emergency response to fires, medical emergencies, and other rescues.
 
We are a community of approximately 17,500 residents, however we welcome millions
of visitors each year. Each year millions of people from around the world travel here to
experience our Town’s unique charm and historic sites, including Fort George and
Brock’s Monument; period-restored heritage homes, top-flight golf courses, breath-
taking parks and gardens, as well as over 30 wineries and countless vineyards, many
of which produce our world-class wine. The Outlet Collection at Niagara attracts an
impressive 6.5 million visitors annually alone. Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services delivers programs and services to enhance the safety and preparedness of
visitors, citizens and businesses alike.

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY
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Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services is continually challenged to meet the
increasing service demands that result from increased growth. In 2019, the department
welcomed 15 new recruit volunteer firefighters that began their 300 hour recruit training
program. Recruitment and retention of volunteer firefighters has been identified as one
of the most significant challenges facing the organization. Concerted effort has been
made to identify retention strategies and develop implementation plans. Midway through
2019, Council supported a four-year uniform distribution plan that will replace all station
wear uniforms for volunteers and phase in the issuance of dress uniforms that have
never been previously issued.  
 
With the increased growth, increased demand has resulted in the replacement of
firefighting equipment and several fire apparatus. The replacement of a 1972 tanker
truck located in the St.Davids community has improved the capacity for response in
rural areas of Niagara-on-the-Lake. Fire Station 2 in St.Davids placed a 2019 Kenworth
3000 gallon tanker into service early in 2019. In 2018, Council approved the
replacement of the 75’ aerial ladder truck that is currently located in the Glendale area.
Rosenbauer America was the successful bidder and has begun the 18-month process to
build a 101-foot aerial platform truck, due for delivery in mid 2020. The completion of the
replacement of the department's auto extrication tool cache occurred early in 2019 now
providing the latest state-of-the-art battery powered ‘Jaws-of-life’ to every fire station in
the community. The replacement of outdated extrication tools with modern equipment
proves incredibly valuable as automobile accidents represent a significant portion of the
emergency responses handled by Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters.
 
Late in 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Stabilization & Growth
Plan was released. This document, aligned with the 2019-2022 Council Strategic Plan,
is intended to provide short-term direction during the development of a 5-10 year Fire
Master Plan that will commence in 2020. The intent of this document is to measurably
improve the provision of fire services over the next 18-month period while a Fire Master
Plan is completed. This Stabilization & Growth Plan identifies strategies to increase
retention, adequately resource key initiatives, drive critical organizational improvements,
and enhance the department's ability to meet expectations of both internal and external
stakeholders.
 
All members of Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services work together to create
an efficient and high-quality emergency service. With a dedication to public education,
training, teamwork, and commitment to continuous improvement, it is Niagara-on-the-
Lake Fire & Emergency Services’ goal to become leaders in the provision of fire
services through the volunteer fire protection service delivery model.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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In 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services saw unprecedented turnover
involving all six permanent staff positions. This significant change, although proving
challenging, allowed the department to move forward and begin working on many
important projects and initiatives.
 
In September of 2019, then Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller was promoted to Fire Chief &
CEMC for the Town. Following Chief Ruller’s appointment, a ‘Stabilization & Growth
Plan’ was developed, outlining an 18-month plan intended to stabilize key staff
positions, and provide short-term direction for the Department while a more fulsome Fire
Master Plan is completed to provide clear direction over the next decade.
 

YOUR FIRE
SERVICE
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Nicholas Ruller - Fire Chief & CEMC
Photo courtesy of The NOTL Local.

ADMINISTRATION
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YOUR FIRE SERVICE

In addition to the ‘Stabilization &
Growth Plan’, a realignment of the
reporting structure within Niagara-
on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services occurred that included the
reclassification of Fire Prevention
Officer Jay Plato’s position to Deputy
Fire Chief – Community Risk
Reduction (DFC-CRR). This
reclassification saw the responsibility
for the Town’s Emergency
Management Program shift to DFC-
CRR, as well as newly defined
responsibilities related to Data
Analytics & Decision Support.

The Deputy Fire Chief position vacated
due to the promotion of Chief Ruller
was aligned to better focus on
professional development, training,
operations, health & safety, and fleet &
facility maintenance. The Deputy Fire
Chief – Operations & Training (DFC-
OPS) position was posted in late 2019,
seeing the promotion of then Station 2
District Chief Darren Trostenko to the
DFC-OPS position.

Jay Plato - Deputy Fire Chief - Community Risk Reduction 

Darren Trostenko - Deputy Fire Chief - Operations & Training

ADMINISTRATION



Under the direction of the Deputy Fire Chief - Operations & Training, Training Officer
Darryl Janzen is responsible for the development, coordination, and delivery of training
across the organization. This includes a regular firefighter and officer training
curriculum, recruit firefighter training program, new equipment training, and high-angle
rescue team training. Additionally, Training Officer Janzen researches, reviews,
develops and implements policies, procedures, guidelines, techniques and equipment in
order to ensure current legislation, regulations, and standards are met.
 
Under the direction of the Deputy Fire Chief – Community Risk Reduction, Fire
Prevention & Public Education Officer Brad Disher is responsible for coordinating all fire
prevention activities, conducting fire safety inspections, enforcing the Ontario Fire Code
and other relevant legislation and standards, coordinating the delivery of public
education, conducting plans examination as it relates to fire safety, reviewing special
event applications as it relates to fire safety, preparing court documents required for
prosecution of fire code violations and investigating the cause and origin of
fires.
 
Reporting to the Fire Chief, Administrative Assistant Matt van der Zalm assists staff with
a wide variety of multifaceted administrative duties. Matt plays a key role in the
establishment of administrative processes, both internal and external communication
projects, data management and reporting, asset management, and procurement.

15
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Left to right: Deputy Chief Jay Plato, Training Officer Darryl Janzen, Deputy Chief Darren Trostenko, Fire Chief & CEMC Nick Ruller,
Administrative Assistant Matt van der Zalm, Fire Prevention & Public Education Officer Brad Disher.



Station 1 in Old Town was the busiest fire
station in Niagara-on-the-Lake in 2019, with
281 responses. The Old Town station is
comprised of a District Chief, an Assistant
District Chief, two Captains, two
Lieutenants, and 19 Firefighters.
 
Built in 2000, this 10,000 square foot facility
includes a large training room, office space
for station officers, a self-contained
breathing apparatus fill station, central
storage, and three large double length
drive-through fire apparatus bays. This
station houses a pumper, a 100-foot aerial
ladder truck, and a light rescue squad. 

YOUR FIRE SERVICE
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STATION 1 - OLD TOWN

Left to Right: Assistant District Chief D. Kruitbosch, Lieutenant J. Edgecombe, Captain M. Mitchell,  S. Baxter, A. Ward, J. Williams, 
J. Williams, N. Murphy, D. Gordon, M. Polgrabia, J. Froese, V. Martens.

Photo Courtesy of The NOTL Local

A photo of Station 1 located at 22 Anderson Lane, 
Niagara-on-the-Lake.



YOUR FIRE SERVICE
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STATION 2 - ST. DAVIDS
Station 2 in St. Davids responded to 189
incidents in 2019. The St.Davids station is
comprised of a District Chief, Assistant
District Chief, one Captain, one Lieutenant,
and 16 Firefighters.
 
Built in 1984, this 7,000 square foot facility
includes a training room, office, and three-
bay apparatus area. This station houses 2
pumpers and a 3000-gallon tanker.
 

Left to Right: Back Row:  J. Plato, E. Trostenko, S. Roy
Middle Row: Captain D. Ignatczyk, Assistant District Chief D. Rigby, District Chief D. Trostenko, S. Lebrasseur, R. MacLeod, R. Ignatczyk

Front Row: M. Newman, M. Vujovich, Lieutenant D. Rooney

Photo Courtesy of The NOTL Local

A photo of Station 2 located at 745 Warner Road, St. Davids. 



 
Station 3 in Virgil responded to 262
incidents in 2019. The Virgil station is
comprised of a District Chief, an Assistant
District Chief, two Captains, two
Lieutenants, and 19 Firefighters.
 
Built in 2008, this 10,500 square foot facility
includes a large training room, office space
for station officers, a fitness room, and
three large double length drive-through fire
apparatus bays. This station houses a
pumper, heavy rescue, 3000-gallon tanker,
and a reserve pumper.

YOUR FIRE SERVICE
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STATION 3 - VIRGIL

Left to Right: Back Row: J. Reynolds, C. Tucker, V. Trapani, H. Boese, M. van der Zalm
Front Row: H. Heikoop, Assistant District Chief J. Neufeld, Lieutenant J. Reschke, Captain R. Read, D. Merza, B. Disher, J. Meleskie, 

J. Disher, J. Plut, Lieutenant D. Janzen, District Chief R. Gray, A. Cherney

Photo Courtesy of The NOTL Local

A photo of Station 3 located at 1391 Concession 6 Road,
Virgil.
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STATION 4 - QUEENSTON

Station 4 in Queenston responded to 58
incidents in 2019. The Queenston station is
comprised of a District Chief, Assistant
District Chief, one Captain, one Lieutenant,
and 16 Firefighters.
 
Built in 1974, this 5,200 square foot facility
includes a training room and two bay
apparatus area. This station houses a
pumper and heavy rescue.

Left to Right: P. Cox, L. Devries, D. Skubel, C. Bottomley, R. Glass, L. Prue, T. Mussari, Station 4 Lieutenant , Captain G. Vandermeer,
Assistant District Chief D. Jones

Photo Courtesy of The NOTL Local

A photo of Station 4 located at 5 Dumfries Street, Queenston.



YOUR FIRE SERVICE
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STATION 5 - GLENDALE

Station 5 in Glendale responded to 181
incidents in 2019. The Glendale station is
comprised of a District Chief, Assistant
District Chief, two Lieutenants, and 14
Firefighters.
 
Built in 2005, this 9,000 square foot facility
includes a training room, office space for
station officers, and three large drive-through
apparatus bays. Niagara Emergency Medical
Services currently leases a portion of this
space for utilization as an ambulance base.

Left to Right: C. Zerwes, L. Mazzuca, A. Harlond, G. van Egmond, Lieutenant S. Ferguson, K. Hnatiw, J. Stuart, B. Lowes, 
Lieutenant S. Maxwell, Assistant District Chief L. Visser, District Chief C. DeGrow

Photo Courtesy of The NOTL Local

A photo of Station 5 located at 350 Townline Road,
Glendale. 



Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services is comprised entirely of volunteer
firefighters. What this means is that there
are no career firefighters staffing the
stations at any time. When there is an
emergency, firefighters are called via pager
to respond to the fire station from their
homes, jobs, or elsewhere to provide
emergency services.
 
As described by the National Volunteer
Firefighter Council "Volunteer firefighters are
summoned to a wide array of emergencies
across the country every day including fires,
emergency medical incidents, terrorist
events, natural disasters, hazardous
materials incidents, water rescue
emergencies, high-angle and confined
space emergencies, and other general
public service calls. The public relies on the
volunteer emergency services to be their
first line of defense in these emergencies.
Volunteers spend an enormous amount of
time training to prepare for these
emergencies."
 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services is proud to operate five fire stations
staffed by 110 volunteer firefighters who
courageously provide service and devotion
to the community that they live in.

VOLUNTEERS

YOUR FIRE SERVICE
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Firefighter S. Roy in one of the department's recruitment
posters. This poster is used to emphasize that our

department consists of regular citizens looking to make a
difference in their communities.
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ADMINISTRATION STRUCTURE

OPERATIONS STRUCTURE

The administrative structure of
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services is headed by the
Fire Chief & CEMC who the
Administrative Assistant, and two
Deputy Chiefs report to. Under the
Deputy Chief of Community Risk
Reduction is the Fire Prevention &
Public Education Officer, and under
the Deputy Chief of Operations &
Training is the Training Officer.

Within the operational structure
of the department, there is the
Deputy Chief of Operations &
Training who oversees the five
fire stations. Each of the five
stations follows a similar chain of
command which consists of
District Chiefs, Assistant District
Chiefs, Captains, Lieutenants,
and Firefighters. 



APPRECIATION
NIGHT
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In support of our volunteer firefighters,
the Lord Mayor and Council host an
annual Appreciation Night to recognize
the commitment and dedication that the
firefighters put in towards protecting the
Municipality.
 
This annual awards night has proven to
be an excellent event to support
comradery within the department, giving
the firefighters from different districts a
chance to socialize with one another
and enjoy a night out with their
colleagues, partners, and spouses.

Traditionally, this evening has also
been used as an opportunity for
Council, and members of the
department to recognize significant
milestones that firefighters have
achieved over the previous year of duty.
 
At the 2019 Appreciation Night, 27
firefighters were recognized for their
years of service milestones,
promotions, or retirements that took
place in the preceding year. The
following pages highlight some of these
achievements.

From Left to Right: Councillor E. Wiens, Councillor W. Cheropita, Captain R. Van Berkel, Firefighter R. Hunter, Firefighter D. Gordon, and 
Fire Chief Ruller at the 2019 Appreciation Night at Wayne Gretzky's Estate Winery & Distillery.



APPRECIATION NIGHT
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YEARS OF SERVICE AWARDS

Station 1 
Randy Van Berkel - 10 Years of Service
Raymond Hunter - 25 Years of Service
Dan Gordon - 30 Years of Service 
 
Station 2 
Mark Newman - 5 Years of Service 
Derek Rooney - 5 Years of Service
Rick Legros - 25 Years of Service
Greg Pillitteri - 30 Years of Service
 
Station 3 
Jim Reschke - 20 Years of Service
Dean Filipetti - 25 Years of Service
 
Station 4 
Tanner Ferguson - 5 Years of Service
Crisipin Bottomley - 20 Years of Service
 
Station 5 
Alistair Harlond - 5 Years of Service
Kevin Hnatiw - 5 Years of Service
Brenda Lowes - 5 Years of Service
Jacob Stuart - 5 Years of Service
Sean Ferguson - 15 Years of Service
Scott Maxwell - 15 Years of Service

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services recognizes members with a Certificate
of Membership and additional sticker for every 5 years of service that they dedicate to
the department. Additionally there are Federal Exemplary Service Medals (20 Years), as
well as Provincial Long Service Medals (25 Years) that are awarded by the government
to recognize the longevity of service that first responders dedicate to their communities.
Below is a list of members from the department and the number of years they were
recognized for in 2019.

The Federal Exemplary Service Medal awarded to
firefighters who have served as an active member of their

department for 20 years. A service bar is added to this
medallion for every 5 additional years a firefighter serves.

The Ontario Long Service Medal is awarded to firefighters
who have served as an active member of the Province for

a total of 25 years. Additionally a bar is added to this
medallion for every 5 years of service thereafter that the

Firefighter serves.



Along with recognizing the length of service firefighters
have dedicated, the department also recognizes any
promotions firefighters have received over the previous
year. The 2019 promotions are as follows:
 
Cort Day – District Chief – Station 1
 
Dayton Kruitbosch – Assistant District Chief – Station 1
 
Michael Mitchell – Captain – Station 1
 
Dave Jones – Assistant District Chief – Station 4
 
George Vandermeer – Captain - Station 4
 
Scott Maxwell – Lieutenant – Station 5

AWARDS NIGHT
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PROMOTIONS

Chief Ruller with Assistant District Chief 
D. Kruitbosch, and Captain M. Mitchell, accepting
their promotion letters at the 2019 Appreciation

Night.

RETIREMENTS
In 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services had two members
retire with a combined years of service total
of 76 years. Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services would like to thank
District Chief Greg Warner (45 Years) and
Firefighter Allan Bilinsky (31 Years) for their
dedication and service to the department
over the course of their tenure. 

Firefighter Alan Bilinsky along side of his two sons 
Jared (Left) and Braeden (Right) receiving his letter of

retirement from Councillor E. Wiens, and Fire Chief Ruller.



PREVENTION
& PUBLIC
EDUCATION
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2019 was a busy year for the
Prevention & Public Education
Division of Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire
& Emergency Services. Some of the
highlights from 2019 include the
following:

236
FIRE INSPECTIONS

These include short-term rental,

commercial, and vulnerable occupancy

inspections completed by the Prevention

Division to verify compliance with the

Ontario Fire Code.

196
APPLICATIONS REVIEWED
 

 

These consisted of both planning applications

reviewed for the safety of future developments

within town, and special event applications to

confirm the fire and life safety for all occupants

attending these events.

31 
PUB-ED EVENTS

These consisted of station tours, group

presentations, school visits, and more

throughout 2019.

2019 HIGHLIGHTS

FPO B. Disher with members of the Brownies Scout Group. after a
guided tour of Station 1 



Deputy Chief  J. Plato, and FPO B. Disher with the Emergency Responders and Delegates from South Korea after a station tour of the
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire Station 1.

In August, the Niagara-on-the-Lake fire prevention staff once again welcomed
emergency responders and delegates from South Korea. This was the second year in a
row that the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services has hosted a group
from South Korea, touring Station 1 in Old Town and having a chance to talk about the
differences and similarities between the two fire services.

In March of 2019, fire prevention
staff and volunteer firefighters
attended the Niagara-on-the-Lake
Home Show at Crossroads Public
School where they distributed fire
safety messaging to residents and
encouraged families to check their
smoke and carbon monoxide
alarms. Furthermore, firefighters
made themselves available to
answer any fire safety questions
from residents and visitors.

PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION

 
From left to right: Firefighter H. Boese, Firefighter C. Zerwes, Deputy Chief  J.

Plato, and FPO B. Disher at the 2019 Niagara-on-the-Lake Home Show.

NOTL HOME SHOW

SOUTH KOREAN FIREFIGHTER VISIT
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PROJECT ZERO
In the fall of 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake
Fire & Emergency Services was the
recipient of 126 combination smoke and
carbon monoxide alarms generously
donated by Enbridge Gas as part of their
Project Zero Campaign.
 
Project Zero provides selected fire
departments within Enbridge Gas’
service area with free combination
smoke and carbon monoxide alarms, for
distribution to individuals in their
communities who are deemed to be high-
risk.

“Within Niagara-on-the-Lake,
firefighters and prevention staff
have been able to distribute these
alarms to help ensure that those
at risk within our community are
protected from the dangers of
smoke and carbon monoxide.”
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PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION

New provincial regulations surrounding
Community Risk Assessments saw the
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services begin to create a new
comprehensive Community Risk
Assessment. The creation of this
document, which is slated to be
completed by the end of the 2nd quarter
of 2020, will then serve as a guiding
document for all future decisions within
the department.

COMMUNITY RISK
ASSESMENT



Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Safe Home Smoke and Carbon
Monoxide Alarm Program deploys our volunteer firefighters throughout the
community, educating residents on the importance of working alarms and fire safety in
their homes. Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services has partnered with
Penner Building Centre in order to be able to provide smoke or carbon monoxide alarms
to non-compliant residences at no cost to the homeowner. This program allows for the
following:

It educates residents on the importance of having working smoke and carbon
monoxide alarms in their home. Part of our program is to remind residents to test
their alarms monthly and change their batteries at least once per year. This also
includes checking the dates on smoke and carbon monoxide alarms and the
importance of replacing expired devices.

Fire prevention staff conducted seven fire
station tours for children of various ages
throughout 2019. Each group was educated
on the importance of fire safety, and were
encouraged to plan and practice home
escape plans with their families. The groups
toured the fire station, where they were
shown various fire trucks and firefighting
equipment, followed by an explanation of
their application.
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PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION

SAFE HOME PROGRAM

It distributes smoke or carbon monoxide alarms to homes that are not properly
protected, and ensures they meet the requirements of the Ontario Fire Code.

It engages the community and provides additional opportunities for members of
the public to meet Niagara-on-the-Lake’s volunteer firefighters and educate them
about the organization.

FIRE STATION TOURS

Left to Right: Firefighter H. Boese, Firefighter J. Reynolds
Firefighter L. Prue, and Firefighter C. Bottomley after a tour of

Niagara-on-the-Lake Station 1.



As part of Fire Prevention Week,
Niagara-on-the-Lake fire
prevention staff, along with
volunteer firefighters, participated
in “Coffee with a Firefighter”. This
provincial initiative partners with
McDonald’s and provides
residents within the community a
relaxed atmosphere to learn about
fire safety from firefighters, while
enjoying a hot McDonald’s coffee.
 
Many residents stopped by to chat
with the firefighters, taking some
home educational materials with
them, as well as insights from
their conversations.

Left to Right: FPO B. Disher, Firefighter N. Murphy, Firefighter R. McLeod,
Firefighter  C. Bottomley, Firefighter T. Mussari, Firefighter K. Hernder, and

Firefighter S. Lebrasseur at the Coffee with a Firefighter event at McDonald's.
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Fire Prevention Week is an annual international
initiative taking place every October. This initiative
is aimed at raising fire prevention awareness within
communities throughout North America. The theme
for 2019’s Fire Prevention Week was “Not every
hero wears a cape. Plan and practice your
escape!”. Fire prevention staff and volunteer
firefighters were out in the community speaking with
residents about home escape planning, the
importance of having working alarms, and other
important fire safety messages. Fire prevention
staff and volunteer firefighters also attended local
elementary schools to conduct witnessed fire drills,
as well as handing out cooking safety information to
seniors throughout the week.

Firefighters R. MacLeod, and S. Lebrasseur helping
deliver pizza to one of the local school classrooms.

PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION

FIRE PREVENTION WEEK



PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION

As a result of the various
organizational changes that took place
late in 2019, Data Analytics &
Decision Support became part of the
portfolio of the Deputy Fire Chief –
Community Risk Reduction. The Data
Analytics & Decision Support initiative
improves efficiency by eliminating
manual data tracking, streamlining
reporting processes and improving
effectiveness by informing critical
decision-making with direct access to
accurate, consistent, and timely data.

Internal and external stakeholders, media
and members of the public also have
increased access to data via the Town’s
website. An interactive mapping initiative
began in 2019 where incident types and call
volume is now presented.
 
These enhancements enable Niagara-on-
the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services to
increase both the amount and the
sophistication of data being provided to the
public and other stakeholders, thereby
increasing transparency for all aspects of
their operations.

An example of one of the info graphics being released on the Fire &
Emergency Services social media accounts.

The Data Analytics & Decision Support initiative is a critical step in
the development of a continuous improvement model that ensures

we are community-focused, data-driven, outcome-focused, strategic-
minded, well-organized, properly-equipped, and properly-staffed and

trained.

A snapshot of the mapping NOTL Fire &
Emergency Services is making available via the

Town website.
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DATA ANALYTICS & DECISION SUPPORT
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PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION

FIRE PREVENTION

 

The Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Fire Prevention Division is
responsible for conducting fire safety inspections to ensure all buildings and structures
in Niagara-on-the-Lake are in compliance with the Ontario Fire Code. Fire prevention
staff are appointed as Assistants to the Fire Marshal under the Fire Protection &
Prevention Act. Enforcement of the Ontario Fire Code is an essential part
of fire protection within the community. Through enforcement of the Ontario Fire Code,
we can ensure the safety the residents of Niagara-on-the-Lake and the many visitors
who enjoy the town throughout the year.

Fire Prevention staff completed inspections of 100% of vulnerable
occupancies in Niagara-on-the-Lake (including care occupancies, and
retirement homes) to protect the most vulnerable residents within
the town. These inspections included witnessed fire drills as required
by the Ontario Fire Code for vulnerable occupancies.

Fire Prevention staff completed 236 inspections throughout 2019 as
part of our proactive fire safety inspection schedule. These inspections were
completed in various types of occupancies, including short-term rentals,
migrant worker housing, hotels, multi-unit residential buildings, schools,
wineries, restaurants, and commercial properties. These inspections
resulted in 33 inspection orders issued to property owners with various Ontario
Fire Code violations.

Firefighter M. van der Zalm, and FPPO B. Disher in front of Ladder 1 with the Brownies Scout Group after giving a tour of Old Town
Station 1.
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PREVENTION & PUBLIC EDUCATION STATISTICS

From a fire prevention and public education standpoint, the above statistics highlight the
type and frequency of activity the prevention division committed to over the course of
2019. It is evident based on the information provided that fire inspections were the
largest proportion of prevention activities conducted in the preceding year. Other major
areas the division invested their time in were special event reviews (133), and planning
reviews (63). This information is extremely useful to Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services as it gives an outline of just how many events and activities are
actually addressed by the prevention and public education division in the course of a
calendar year.



TRAINING
DIVISION

The Training Division of Niagara-on-the-
Lake Fire & Emergency Services made
significant improvement to the many
existing comprehensive internal
programs in 2019. This progress is partly
a result of the transition to a modular
training program that better utilizes
available training hours. 
 
The Training Division is responsible for
the regular firefighter curriculum, officer
training curriculum, delivery and
coordination of National Fire Protection
Association (NFPA) certifications, and
various specialized internal and external
training and certification.

In 2019, the department successfully
certified over 89 firefighters to an
NFPA standard in at least one area of
discipline. Furthermore, training began
for 15 volunteer firefighter recruits in the
fall of 2019 with the intent of a spring
2020 graduation.
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"89 Firefighters
Certified to an

NFPA Standard"



The Training Division provides ongoing education
for all members of Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire
& Emergency Services, including firefighters, officers,
and new recruits. Furthermore, the Training Division also
provides research and development for fire suppression
technology matters, the dissemination of new information
in the field, and the updating of technical guidance
documents. Due to the high-risk nature of firefighting,
training consumes a significant portion of firefighters’
time. Effective, ongoing training produces highly
competent firefighters, while decreasing their risk of
injury.
 
In 2019, firefighters accumulated over 12,700 hours of
regular curriculum training. The curriculum training
takes place Monday evenings with a focus on medical
emergencies, hazardous material incidents, fire
ground operations, vehicle rescue, firefighter
survival, and incident management.
 
In addition to the regular scheduled curriculum training,
the most recent intake of firefighter recruits began the
Recruit Training Program. These new recruits undergo a
rigorous 300-hour training program which prepares
them for the National Fire Protection Association
written and practical testing and certification.

TRAINING DIVISION
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Firefighter M. Skubel operating the eDRAULIC Jaws of Life while
training on Auto-Extrication on a Monday night.



TRAINING DIVISION
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FORMER NURSES RESIDENCE

Firefighters and Recruits participating in different training exercises at the newly acquired Nurses Residence on Byron St. in Old Town.

In 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services made valuable use
of the former nurses residence on Byron
Street. Our firefighters were able to perform
valuable skills training in this building such as
search and rescue, Rapid Intervention Team
skills, hose advancements, and hose cabinet
drills. Use of this building provided a more
realistic training environment for our
firefighters. This building has also proven to be
beneficial to the 2019 recruit class. Multiple
training sessions have been held at this
location, providing recruits a realistic
opportunity to incorporate all of the individual
skills they have developed, and apply them to
scenario-based drills.

Firefighters practicing various skills at the nurses residence.



TRAINING
HIGHLIGHTS
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nfpa 472
14  FIREFIGHTERS  CERTIFIED

This standard outlines the qualifications firefighters

need to meet for Hazardous Materials incidents. We

successfully trained and tested 14 firefighters to the

Operations level of this standard, which is a

requirement in the process of receiving International

Fire Service Accreditation Congress seals.

NFPA 1002
11  FIREFIGHTERS  CERTIFIED

11 firefighters successfully completed the training and

testing to Chapter 5 of the NFPA standard, which

encompasses the complex operations of a fire pump

truck. These 11 firefighters are now able to safely

operate a pump truck in both rural and urban

environments.

NFPA 1041
20  FIREFIGHTERS  CERTIFIED

20 firefighters became certified Fire Instructors after

successfully completing the assignments and testing

to Level 1 of this standard. This adds depth to the

instructor pool within our department.

12, 732
TOTAL  TRAINING  HOURS

This is a combined total of the amount of training

hours that firefighters, and recruits have dedicated to

training in the year 2019.



2019
RECRUITMENT
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2019
RECRUITMENT

In spring of 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake

Fire & Emergency Services began a

recruitment drive consisting of

recruiting, training, and certifying

volunteer firefighter candidates.

 

Since beginning the 2019

recruitment, there have been 15

candidates who have successfully

completed their NFPA 1001 Level I

certification. Completion of NFPA

1001 Level II, 472, and 1035 are

expected to be completed in 2020.

 

"15 CANDIDATES HAVE EACH
DEDICATED OVER 300 HOURS
OF TRAINING IN
PREPARATION OF BECOMING
VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS
IN NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE."
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As a result of the overwhelming response to 2019’s recruitment drive, a large
group of candidates participated in the selection process. After initial screening of
the applications, qualified candidates were invited to participate in the candidate
aptitude test, which took place in May 2019.
 
Those successful at the aptitude testing stage then participated in panel
interviews intended to better assess their qualifications and fit as a volunteer
firefighter. This year's round of recruit interviews took place in June 2019.
 
Those successful in the interview process were then provided a conditional letter
of employment which marks the start of their tenure with the Niagara-on-the-Lake
Fire & Emergency Services.
 
In order to satisfy the aforementioned conditions, applicants must complete the
Candidate Physical Ability Test administered through Firefighter Services of
Ontario. Additionally, a satisfactory medical screening, driver abstract, and Police
Vulnerable Sector Check are required.
 
Successful candidates must then complete more than 300 hours of training and
testing each over a nine month period before becoming an active firefighter. To
ensure their competency on the fireground, recruits are certified to the National
Fire Protection Association Standard for Firefighter Level I & II, Hazardous
Materials Operations Level, and Fire & Life Safety Educator Level I. This
certification process is intended to ensure that new recruits are trained to the
highest standards, and are prepared to safely operate alongside their peers.

THE PROCESS

2019 RECRUITMENT
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In May of 2019, Niagara-on-the-Lake
Fire & Emergency Services placed a
new 3000-gallon tanker into service in
St.Davids. This vehicle replaced a 1972
Thibault tanker that was remounted on
a used chassis in the mid-90s.
 
Volunteer firefighters provided input into
the design of the new apparatus, which
is specifically designed for the unique
characteristics of Niagara-on-the-Lake’s
landscape. Firefighting in rural settings
typically involves firefighters bringing
water to a scene and as such, a tanker
with increased water capacity is
extremely important. 

This 2019 Kenworth T-370 has a 3,000-
gallon water tank, automated side dump
chutes, and an onboard pump that allows it
to feed another fire apparatus on a scene.
New safety features include improved
emergency and scene lighting, a 360-
degree camera system, high visibility
chevrons and a large traffic advisor to alert
motorists when operating on Highway 405
and the QEW.
 
The Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services strives to ensure that modern
firefighting equipment is available to
support our volunteer firefighters in the
delivery of effective emergency responses.
The addition of Tanker 2 increases the
safety of both the public and the firefighters.

FLEET &
EQUIPMENT
ADDITIONS
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A photo of the completed Kentworth T370 3000-gallon tanker that will serve as the new Tank 2 truck in St. Davids.

TANK 2



Due to significant reliability issues with

the 2005 American LaFrance/LTI aerial

truck stationed at Station 5, the decision

was made to accelerate its

replacement.

 

This replacement plan includes the

relocation of the 2007 Spartan/Smeal

aerial truck from Station 1 in Old Town

to Station 5 in Glendale. The

procurement process for a replacement

aerial truck commenced late in 2018

with the successful proponent being

Rosenbauer America.

In April 2019, representatives from

NOTLFD attended a pre-construction

meeting at Rosenbauer’s factory in

Sioux Falls, South Dakota. A mid-point

inspection of the cab and chassis was

performed by NOTLFD representatives

in October of 2019 that uncovered only

a few minor issues.

 

Final inspection and delivery is

expected in May of 2020, with a

targeted in-service date of late June

2020. This replacement represents a

significant investment into the provision

of fire protection across Niagara-on-

the-Lake.

FLEET & EQUIPMENT ADDITIONS

Photos of the chassis of the new Ladder 1 currently being constructed.
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LADDER 1



FLEET&
EQUIPMENT
ADDITIONS
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Over the past 36 months, Niagara-on-
the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services
has been replacing the traditional
hydraulic ‘jaws-of-life’ tools with state-
of-the-art electric-hydraulic tools. In
2019, the purchase of two spreaders,
two cutters, and one ram completed this
department-wide replacement. 
 
These tools are smaller, lighter, and
stronger, making them quicker and
more versatile than the outgoing
equipment.

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services purchased a forcible entry prop
built by H&R Machine Welding &
Fabricating in Fergus, Ontario. This prop
allows firefighters to practice forcing inward
and outward swinging doors, removing
hinges, and removing door knobs and
deadbolts.

E-DRAULIC TOOLS

FORCIBLE ENTRY PROP

Recruits being briefed prior to using the forcible entry prop.

Firefighter S. Lebrasseur training with the new Hurst eDRAULIC auto
extrication tools.



STABILIZATION
& GROWTH
PLAN
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Late in 2019, Fire & Emergency
Services Stabilization & Growth Plan,
aligned with the 2019-2022 Council
Strategic plan, was released with the
intention to provide short-term direction
during the development of a Fire Master
Plan that will commence in 2020. The
intent of this document is to measurably
improve the provision of fire services
over the 18-month period that a Fire
Master Plan is completed. 
 
Upon completion of the Fire Master
Plan, this Stabilization & Growth Plan
can then be reviewed and integrated
into the implementation plan that will be
developed based on the
recommendations of the completed Fire
Master Plan.

Make Organizational Improvements
Improve Service Delivery
Enhance Training & Professional
Development
Commit to Continuous
Improvement

The Stabilization & Growth Plan consists
of four overarching objectives:

 
It is the intent of Niagara-on-the-Lake
Fire & Emergency Services to become
leaders in the provision of fire services
through the volunteer fire protection
service delivery model. Consequently,
this document does not compare the
organization against other comparable
fire services, rather it outlines initiatives
that will position Niagara-on-the-Lake
Fire & Emergency Services as a leader in
the fire service.



S T A B A L I Z A T I O N  &  G R O W T H  P L A N

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services faces many
challenges that extend beyond front-line emergency response.
Maintaining training and education levels for our firefighters with
increasing public expectations and legal requirements proves to be
demanding. 
 
Public education requires innovation and creativity in order to meet
the needs of a rapidly changing community. Managing the Municipal
Emergency Management Program in order to not just meet but
exceed minimum provincial compliance requirements has been
outlined as an immediate priority. 
 
The utilization of technology, ensuring effective emergency
communications, and maintaining a complex fleet are other examples
of the various challenges that continue to be faced.
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COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT
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As a result of the increased focus on data

analytics and the utilization of GIS

mapping, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &

Emergency Services was able to produce

an online interactive incident map for

public consumption. This interactive map

allows users to view incidents by type or

location throughout the municipality. The

data is updated monthly and has various

filtering options to allow the user to focus

on areas of interest.

A snapshot of the online interactive Fire Map from the Fire & Emergency Services Webpage. This map can be found at :
https://www.notl.org/fire_incidents_map

FIRE MAPPING

OPEN AIR BURNING

As open-air burning is part of regular
farming practices, it was important for
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire &
Emergency Services to identify and
implement process improvements that
would reduce unnecessary
administrative work and improve
customer service. 
 
The process development and
implementation strategy for an online
approval procedure was initiated in
2019. Working with the Agriculture
Committee to streamline and
modernize the approval process, the
online approval process was
successfully launched early in 2020.



In order to better serve the public, and in
alignment with Town Council's 2019-2022
Strategic Plan, a revamping of the existing
Fire & Emergency Services web page was
initiated. The revamped web page will
provide a more seamless user experience
moving forward. Furthermore, access to an
online training portal is available through
a secure login process that allows volunteer
firefighters to access all internal
communication, forms and documentation
remotely.

Engaging the public through various social media
platforms proved to be highly valuable throughout 2019.
The @NOTLfiredept Twitter page has over 1200 followers
with tweets garnering 475,100 impressions, and 72,240
engagements in 2019. Through the completion of the
Community Risk Assessment in 2020, social media
engagement will see more targeted and refined
messaging.
 
You can follow Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services at:

47

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

WEBSITE

A snapshot of the home screen of the Fire & Emergency Services
Webpage. that can be found at:

http://notl.com/content/fire-and-emergency-services

A look at the Fire & Emergency Services
Twitter page.

@NOTLfiredept

@notlfiredept

SOCIAL MEDIA

@NOTLfire



ASSOCIATIONS
EVENTS
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In Niagara-on-the-Lake, four of the fire
stations have formed individual
associations including current and past
members that spend countless hours
raising funds and volunteering their time
within the community. The funds that
are raised through the various
fundraisers are often donated to
community groups, used as
sponsorships for sports teams, or used
to purchase supplies for other
community groups in support of their
initiatives.
 
The following section highlights some of
the events that associations held over
the past year in support of the
community.

Firefighter D. Merza, Assistant District Chief J. Neufeld, and District Chief R. Gray with a donation to NOTL Minor Lacrosse. 

Firefighter Steve Lebrasseur at the MD Tollgate
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ASSOCIATION EVENTS

CAR SHOWS
Virgil Volunteer Firefighters Association is well
known for their car shows and cruise nights.
Spring Fever is a joint fundraising initiative
between the Niagara-on-the-Lake Kinsmen Club
and the Virgil Volunteer Firefighters Association.
 
In August, the volunteers host an annual
car show at Fire Station 3 where proceeds
raised are donated to youth sports in
Niagara-on-the-Lake.
 Firefighter Richard Moore (Left) with the Winner of the

Virgil Fire Station Car Show.

TURKEY ROLLS
Each year, Fire Stations 1, 2 & 3 host
turkey roll fundraising raffles. Historically,
the funds raised from these events would
be reinvested into the stations, vehicles,
or equipment in order make needed
improvements. As funding models
evolved, the proceeds of these
fundraisers are no longer used for
funding department initiatives, rather they
are donated to local charities and
community groups.
 
In addition to the critical fundraising
component of these events, the events
prove to be a great opportunity for
community members to connect with the
volunteer firefighters in their community.



50

ASSOCIATION EVENTS

MD TOLLGATE

BREAKFASTS 
& DINNERS

Firefighter S. Lebrasseur at the Annual MD Tollgate.

The St.Davids Firefighters
Association hosts a breakfast buffet
on the last Saturday of every month
at 745 Warner Road. Queenston
Volunteer Firefighters Association
hosts spaghetti dinners twice
throughout the year, once in the
spring, and the other in the fall.
 
These events raise on average
approximately $1500 each with
the funds reallocated to support local
organizations such as minor sports,
Air Cadets, Red Roof Retreat,
Bicycles for Farm Workers, and more.

More than 600 Fire Departments and
Associations across Canada raise more
than $3 million annually in support of
Muscular Dystrophy Canada. Each year,
firefighters give their time and help “Fill the
Boot” by organizing various events like boot
drives, rooftop campouts, stair climbs,
ladder sits, car washes, raffles, sporting
events and truck pulls in support of more
than 50,000 Canadians who are impacted
by neuromuscular disorders.
 
Every August, since 1971, Station 1
firefighters have hosted an annual tollgate
at the intersections of Mississagua Street
and Queen Street and at King Street and
Queen Street in Old Town. This past year,
volunteers raised $9,936.00 for Muscular
Dystrophy Canada. To date, Station 1
firefighters have raised over $280,000.
Station 1 Firefighters would like to thank
their retirees for their assistance with
collecting, as well as members from the
St.Davids Firefighters Association who
came out to help with this years Boot Drive
as well.
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ASSOCIATION EVENTS



INCIDENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

COLANERI WINERY -

STRUCTURE FIRE

Photo of the Colaneri Winery Fire that took place on April 16, 2019.

At 1:56 pm on April 16th, 2019, firefighters
from Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency
Services were dispatched to Concession 6
Road for reports of heavy black smoke
coming from Colaneri Estates Winery.
 
Following the initial dispatch, Chief Ruller
observed a column of heavy black smoke
rising from the area of the reported incident,
and immediately upgraded the call to a 2nd
alarm.
 
Upon arriving on scene, Chief Ruller
assumed Colaneri Command. After
conducting an initial size up of the premises,
it was determined that an outside storage
building, along with a tractor trailer, stacks of
skids, and some farm equipment were on fire
along the rear of the premises, threatening
the main winery building.

First arriving crews proceeded to secure a
water supply and used large diameter
hose lines to knock down the flames.
 
As additional resources arrived on scene,
crews proceeded to stretch additional
hose lines to battle the blaze and protect
potential exposures. Crews conducted
searches of the winery verifying that no fire
had extended into the main winery building
itself.
 
Crews were able to contain the fire and
had it under control in approximately 40
minutes. In total, 51 personnel responding
on 11 different fire apparatus contributed
to mitigation of what could have been a
catastrophic event had the fire extended to
the main winery building.
 
"Huge thank you goes out to the Niagara-
on-the-Lake firefighters with their quick
response and bravery. There are no words
to express properly our gratitude. They are
special people who volunteer for this." 
 

- Colaneri Estates Winery



SEVENTH STREET - MUTUAL AID

INCIDENTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
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A large commercial greenhouse fire in the area of Seventh
Street and Fourth Avenue in St. Catharines broke out just
past 11:00 pm on August 16th, 2019. This roughly 700,000
square foot structure was well involved and threatening
additional structures of neighbouring properties.
 
As part of a mutual aid request, Niagara-on-the-Lake Tank
2 was dispatched at 12:32 am on August 17th, 2019 to aid
in the shuttling of water to front line apparatus, as this
incident was in a rural area.
 
As all St. Catharines fire apparatus were committed and in
the midst of recalling staff, through the Regional Fire
Coordinator, Niagara-on-the-Lake Pump 5 was made
available with staff from 12:30 am through 2:30 am to
provide coverage if necessary. At 6:30 am, the Incident
Commander requested Niagara-on-the-Lake Pump 3 and
Tanker 3 to respond to assist in containing the fire as it was
spreading rapidly towards neighbouring structures.
 
Fire Chief Ruller responded to the scene in order to liaise
with the Incident Commander and supervise Niagara-on-
the-Lake firefighters.  At 9:00 am, in order to provide relief
for Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters that were on scene
advancing hoselines in arduous weather and terrain, four
additional Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters and 1 District
Chief were requested.  Furthermore, two more firefighters
were requested to relieve the pair that had been operating
Tanker 2 for just over 9 hours. At the height of the incident,
there were 24 fire apparatus from various departments
across the region, and countless staff/command vehicles.
 
 

Photo from the Seventh Street Greenhouse fire.
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INCIDENTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

LINE 6 ROAD - GREENHOUSE FIRE

Photos from the incident that took place at the call on Line 6 Rd.

Add a little bit of body text

On August 23rd, 2019, at 12:04 am crews
from St.Davids, Queenston, Virgil, Glendale
and Old Town were dispatched to Line 6
Road for reports of a 100,000 square foot
greenhouse on fire.
 
Upon arriving on scene, first arriving units
confirmed there was extensive fire
throughout the greenhouse, and an interior
attack was initiated. The crew from Pump 2
was tasked with advancing 400 ft of 45 mm
hose interior for a primary attack.
Subsequent arriving crews secured a water
source and stretched additional hose lines to
control exterior fire spread.

As additional apparatus arrived, crews
were able to contain the fire and bring it
under control by 1:00 am.
 
Deputy Fire Chief Jay Plato investigated
the origin, cause and circumstances
surrounding the fire. The cause was
determined to be electrical in nature and
originated in irrigation equipment in the
center portion of the greenhouse. At the
height of the incident, there were seven
trucks on scene with 40 firefighters.
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NIAGARA DISTRICT AIRPORT -

AIRCRAFT ACCIDENT

On the afternoon of August 31st, 2019,
firefighters from Virgil and Glendale were
dispatched to the Niagara District Airport for a
plane that had experienced a mechanical
failure during landing and had left the runway
and subsequently experienced significant
damage.  
 
During the landing, the aircraft experienced
damage to one of the wings that in turn
resulted in a significant fuel spill.  Firefighters
deployed a hoseline as a precaution and
assisted staff on site in containing the leak.
The Ontario Spills Action Centre was notified
prior to crews clearing the scene.

LINE 2 RD - M.V.C

In the evening of August 31st, 2019, a serious
vehicle collision occurred in the area of Line 2
Rd. and Concession 2 Rd. 
 
Crews from Virgil and Old Town were involved in
a complex vehicle extrication to remove two
trapped patients. This extrication involved the
complete roof removal of one vehicle by
firefighters while other firefighters secured a
landing area for the air ambulance at Caroline
Cellars.

Photos from the fuel spill incident that took place at
the Niagara District Airport.

Photo from the Line 2 MVC



LOOKING AHEAD -
2020 
INITIATIVES
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The primary objective of the Fire Master
Plan is to provide Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire
& Emergency Services' stakeholders with a
document that contains achievable and
measurable recommendations that will
elevate the customer service experience
and be the basis from which future policies
and decisions are made. The Fire Master
Plan will also consider policies and
recommendations set out by other
municipal documents such as the Town’s
Official Plan, Secondary Plan, and District
Plan, as well as other planning and
community growth strategies. 
 
The key driver behind this document is the
reduction of risk. This plan will rely heavily
on information gathered and compiled in
the Community Risk Assessment (CRA)
that is currently underway by Niagara-on-
the-Lake Fire & Emergency Servicesstaff.
This study considers demographics,
geography of the town, types of
occupancies, current and historic
emergency data, and economic/financial
impacts.

Governance, legislation, by-laws and
administration 
Fire prevention and public education
Firefighter staffing and service agreements 
Emergency response 
Firefighter training 
Apparatus, equipment and maintenance 
Dispatch and communications
Budgets and revenues.

This Fire Master Plan will provide a complete
review of the current operations of Niagara-on-
the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services to assist
Council in establishing key objectives for the
department. The plan will include
recommendations to address both short-term
and long-term strategies for the Town. The
overarching goal of a Fire Master Plan is to
present a clear understanding of the existing
and future requirements of the department. 
 
Referencing best practices, including relevant
standards and legislation, this report will be
prepared by completing an assessment of the
following departmental administrative and
operational components: 
 

FIRE MASTER PLAN



Accurately indicates staffing levels for
incidents through IamResponding.

Reduces response times by displaying
the location of responding firefighters
allowing an informed decision as to
whether an apparatus should respond
immediately or wait for additional
firefighters.

Provides routing information to scene
based on available data.

Provides for a secure medium from
dispatch via the Computer Aided
Dispatch interface so that responding
crews can be updated while on route to
the scene.

Provides mapping and flow rates of fire
hydrants.

Allows for responding crews to have
seamless access to fire pre-plan and
property access information while on
route to and at the scene of an incident.

The integration of Mobile Data Terminals
(MDTs) in all frontline fire apparatus will
begin in 2020. The utilization of tablet-
based MDTs provides the following
benefits:
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MOBILE DATA TERMINALS

As part of the approved 2020 capital
budget, NOTLFD is proceeding with the
purchase of a Rescue Pumper for Fire
Station 3 in Virgil. 
 
This pumper will allow for the
decommissioning of a 1990 Pumper and a
1994 Heavy Rescue. The increased call
volume and increased use of fire apparatus
located centrally in Niagara-on-the-Lake,
specifically at Station 3 in Virgil has
identified the need to reconsider the types
of apparatus that are responding from
Station 3.  
 
Due to its central location, Station 3 allows
for exceptional additional coverage
throughout all 5 Districts when required. 
Specifically, Station 3 apparatus have the
ability to support both Station 1 in Old Town
and Station 5 in Glendale, which are
experiencing continued growth and
intensification by providing depth to the
response (additional staffing) to supplement
those stations as they continue to work to
increase their staffing levels.

PUMPER / RESCUE



1

1593 Four Mile Creek Road, VIrgil, ON, L0S 1T0
Phone: (905) 468-3266. Fax: (905) 468-2959

Email: info@notl.com 
Web: www.notl.com
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